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c n y OF CHICAGO 

OFFICi;; OF INSPECIOR GENERAL 

OFFICE OF THEZ'̂ iO NORTH SFDGWICK STREET, sun E 200 
CITY CLERK GHICAGO, H LINOIS 6O654 

JOSEPH M FERGUSON TELEPHONE (77.3)478 7799 

INSPECTOR C E N F F ^ A L FAX (773) 478-.3949 

TO THE MAYOR, MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIUCITY 
CLERK, CITY TREASURER, AND RESIDENTS O F T H E CITY 
OFCHICAGO: 
Enclosed for your review is the public report on the operat ions o f t h e City of Chicago 
Office of Inspector General (OIC) dur ing the four th quarter of 2019, fi led w i th City 
Council pursuant to Section 2-56-120 o f t h e Municipal Code of Chicago. 

This quarterly report concludes a year of signif icant transit ion for the City of Chicago- -

a run-off election, a shift in leadership values and voices, and a candid and sobering 

account o f t h e gravity of the City's fiscal si tuation. This year's budget hearing k indled a 

greater awareness of a deficit whose magn i tude critically impacts the health and 

wel l -being of our City. Asa result, the new Admin is t ra t ion has charged City 

government w i th the responsibil ity to look inward in order to engage, adapt, and 

develop new ways of delivering more and better services to residents for less. 

OIC has recommended proven, best-practice solutions to fiscal shor tcomings for the 
better part o fa decade, presenting revenue-generat ing and cost-saving options,.' 
t h rough various forms of report ing. Our efforts have also included arming the public 
and City officials w i th the context, data, and analysis required lo make impac t f u l and 
economical decisions. Through audit f indings and recommendat ions to City 
depar tments , OIC engages in the ongo ing discussion of both immed ia te and longer-
t e r m fixes. OIC has also leveraged observations f rom narrowly tai lored investigations, 
both cr iminal and administrat ive, to redress broader p rogrammat ic concerns, 
mi t igate fu ture risks of waste and corrupt ion, and foster effectiveness and efficiencies. 
We hope that our data and report ir ig cont inue to in form greater col laborat ion, 
creat ing a new generat ion of transparency and accountabi l i ty in City operations. 

Wi th the benefit of a full calendar ahead to present a balanced budget , we will have 
more t ime and space to push awareness and dialogue for structural and operat ional 
changes And we will do so in ways that are mindfu l of the need and responsibil ity for 
p romot ing changes in cul ture that min imize the drag of the past on Ihe innovations 
o f t h e present and future. The diversity o f t h e investigations and audits presented in 
the follovving report exempli fy our ongo ing support of that change, t h rough our 
mission to promote econonny, efficiency, and integri ty in government , and further 
p rompt areas of economic considerations for a course correct ion OIC intends to meet 

I ( X H K ; A G 0 0 R G I ' O I G T I P L I N E (866} 'XiS /.75^i I ITY (773) X78 7066 



these new and intensifying challenges as an in formed and support ive collaborator, 

ensuring our role as the overseer of public interesi and fur ther ing engagen ion t in our 

services. 

Respectfully, 

C J ^ 
Joseph M. Ferguson 

Inspector General 

City of Chicago 
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FOUfJTH QUARTER REPORT JANUARY 15, 2020 

H I G H L I G H T S 

C O M P L A I N T S 

R E C E I V E D 

M A T T E R S 

C O N C L U D E D 

A U D I T E D H I R I N G 

S E Q U E N C E S 

P U B L I S H E D 

R E P O R T S 

N O T I F I C A T I O N S 

A n OIC i n v e s t i g a t i o n e s t a b l i s h e d t h a t a 
f o r m e r i n v e s t i g a t o r in t h e n o w - d e f u n c t 
I n d e p e n d e n t Po l i ce Rev iew A u t h o r i t y 
( IPRA) c o n c e a l e d i n f o r m a t i o n r e g a r d i n g 
a p o l i c e - i n v o l v e d s h o o t i n g u n d e r IPRA's 
j u r i s d i c t i o n , v i s i t ed a n d r e p e a t e d l y 
c o m m u n i c a t e d w i t h t h e f a m i l y o f a p o l i c e 
s h o o t i n g v i c t i m a n d f a i l ed t o i n f o r m IPRA, 
a n d s o u g h t t o refer a n d rece ive a re fer ra l 
fee for c o n n e c t i n g t h e s h o o t i n g v i c t i m ' s 
f a m i l y w i t h an a t t o r n e y . 

This q u a r t e r , OIC issued t w o n o t i f i c a t i o n s : 
• The C h i c a g o Pub l i c L ib rary d i d n o t 

ins ta l l GPS d a t a t r a c k i n g in its veh ic les , 
r e s u l t i n g in an a c c o u n t a b i l i t y g a p 
re la t i ve to m o s t o t h e r d e p a r t m e n t s , 
a l l o w i n g for o p p o r t u n i t i e s for 
u n a u t h o r i z e d use of Ci ty veh ic les . 
A w a r d h a d u n r e g i s t e r e d e q u i p m e n t 
t h a t w a s n o t in c o m p l i a n c e w i t h C i ty 
p o l i c y a n d o p e r a t e d by n o n - C i t y 
e m p l o y e e s , t h e r e b y p r e v e n t i n g t h e 
a p p r o p r i a t e m a i n t e n a n c e a n d 
p r e s e r v a t i o n of assets a n d o p e n i n g t h e 
Ci ty u p to p o t e n t i a l l i ab i l i t y . 

Top ics o f OIG cases c l osed th i s q u a r t e r : 
• C o n t r a c t o r m i s c o n d u c t a n d f r a u d 
• E th ics v i o l a t i o n s 
• Fo rged d o c u m e n t s & fa lse s t a t e m e n t s 
• F r a u d u l e n t use o f FMLA 
• Misuse of Ci ty p r o p e r t y 
• Res idency v i o l a t i o n s 
• Sexual h a r a s s m e n t 

'AGE 



FOURTI i QUAF^TFR REPORT JANUARY 15, 2020 

This quarterly report provides an overview of the operat ions of the Office of Inspector 

General (OIG) dur ing the period f rom October 1, 2019 t h rough December 31, 2019. The 

report includes statistics and narrative descript ions of OIG's activity as required by the 

Municipal Code of Chicago (MCC). 

I. MISSION O F T H E OFFICE OF.INSPECTOR CENERAL 
The mission of OIG is to p romote economy, effectiveness, efficiency, and integr i ty in 
the administ rat ion of programs and operat ion of City government. ' OIG accompl ishes 
Its mission t h rough investigations, audits, and other reviews. OIG issues summary 
reports of investigations to the appropr iate authori ty, managemen t officials, and/or 
the Mayor, w i th investigative f indings and recommendat ions for corrective action and 
discipline. Summaries of sustained investigations and the result ing depa r tmen t or 
agency actions are released in quarter ly reports. OIG's audi t reports and advisories are 
directed to the appropr iate agency author i ty or managemen t officials for c o m m e n t 
and then are released to the publ ic on the OIG website. OIG's depar tmen t 
notif ications are sent to the appropr iate agency author i ty or m a n a g e m e n t officials for 
at tent ion and comment , and are summar ized, along w i th any managemen t 
response, in the ensuing quarterly report. Finally, OIG issues reports as required by t he 
Hiring Plan and as otherwise necessary to carry out its hir ing oversight funct ions. 

' "Clly govei nme i i t " inclLicles i:he Cily of Chicayo and ;:-ny sister agericy ''.'Vtiich ente is into an 

lni.eiciOvciriiTV2nt.al Agreement, w i i l i f.tie Cit.y f c ' Lhe picwisio'": of oversigl i i . .services hy OIG 

r-V\GE : 



FOURTH QUARTER RFF-'ORT JANUARY 15, 2020 

II. INVESTICATIONS 
The OIG Investigations section conducts both cr iminal and administrat ive 

investigations into the conduct of governmenta l officers, employees, depar tments , 

funct ions, and programs, either in response to compla in ts or on the Office's own 

initiative. 

A. COMPLAINTS RECEIVEDTHIS QUARTER 

OIG received 704 compla ints this quarter. The chart below breaks down the 

complaints OIG received dur ing the past quarter b y t h e me thod in wh ich the 

compla in t was reported. 

CHART #1 - C O M P U \ I N T S BY REPORTING M E T H O D 

38 
"19 

OIG Refer.-nl CPD Fax Walk-;n 
Fill ateci ivlember 

!-iotline 

Compla int Origin 

A m o n g other factors, OIG evaluates compla ints to gauge the investigative viability 

and potential magn i tude or signif icance o f t h e al legat ions—both individually and 

programmatical ly.- 'The fol lowing table outl ines the actions OIG has taken in response 

to these complaints. 

•' OIG's comp la in l inLa'-'.e process allows n. r.o ass-oss tt'ie sul.3si.ance o f a comp la in t pnor to processing and. 

after t i i o rouqh review, to filter out corri plai ors rfiar lacl< su-'ficient :nioi mat ion or clarit.y o;i wh ic f i to I'lase 

addi t ional teseaicl i (it actiofi. or are incol ie ient . incof i ' iprei iensi l i le ot factnally :rnpossii:;le 

PA(;i- 4 



FOUR I H QUARTER REPOtTf JANUARY 15, 2020 

TABLE #1 - COMPLAINT ACTIONS 

S t a t u S ' K ^ i ^ ^ • .,.:.̂ : Nurnber of Gprri pla il l ts 'X ' ' . :t^'„ 

Opened Investigation 19 

Pending 124 

Referred to Department/Sister Agency 265 

Declined 295 

Total 704 

B. PRIOR QUARTER COMPLAINTS 

OIG also took action on compla ints that were pending at the end of the prior quarter 
by decl ining 54 complaints, open ing 16 administrat ive or cr iminal investigations, and 
referring 66 compla ints to sister agencies. Addit ionally, 1 compla in t was referred to 
the Hiring Oversight section and 4 compla ints remain pending. The fo l lowing table 
provides the status of all compla ints that were pending at the end of the previous 
quarter. 

TABLE # 2 - PRIOR PENDING COMPLAINTS 

oN u.nn. be;r-pf .;(g3mp 1 a i nts? u. .^^v-y:^^,.,. 

Opened Investigation 16 

Pending 4 

Referred to Department/Sister Agency 66 

Referred to Hiring Oversight 1 

Declined 54 

Total 141 

C . N E W L Y O P E N E D M A T T E R S 

This quarter, OIG opened 398 matters. O f t h e newly opened matters, 347 were 

referred to other depar tments or investigative agencies. A total of 51 cases proceeded 

to an OIG investigation.'^ O f those cases, 47 remained open at the end o f t h e quarter, 1 

was closed administratively, and 3 were closed sustained The fol lowing table 

categorizes the matters opened by OIG this quarter based on the subject of the 

matter. 

- fvicire t f ian one case ma_v Ije op'Sneti on tt ie same corni j la int , account ing fo-'' d isctepancios be tween tf ie 

total nurnber of compla in ts opened as invest igat ions and tt ic total numl.xM' i.:'! cases opener i tfi is quarifM 

;'AGE : 



FOUF^TH QUAirrER REPOfTf JANUARY 15, 2020 

TABLE -#3 - SUBJECT OF INVESTICATIONS A N D REFERRALS 

Subject'of Iny6shg.a..t.iph.s.';ahd l^efer/,a 'i^i ̂ iiNdrriber Qf;l.nyestigations;a:nd'-Refe^^ 

Employees 318 

Contractors, Subcontractors, and 
Persons Seeking Contracts -11 

Elected Officfals 21 

Persons Seeking Certif ication of Eligibility 1 

Appo in ted Officials 3 

Licensees 18 

Other 26 

Total 398 

D. CASES CONCLUDED IN QUARTER . 

This quarter, OIG concluded 377 opened matters, 347 of wh ich were referred to the 
fol lowing: 301 to a City depar tmen t and 46 to a sister agency or other external agency. 
O f t h e remain ing concluded matters, 16 were closed as "sustained " A case is 
sustained when the evidence sufficiently establishes that either an administrat ive or 
cr iminal violation has occurred, or the case identifies a particular p rob lem or risk that 
warrants a public report or notif ication to a depar tment . A total of 7 mat ters were 
closed as "not sustained." A case is not sustained when OIG concludes that the 
available evidence ts fnsufficient to prove a violatfon under appl icable burdens of 
proof. A total of 7 matters were closed "administratively." A case is closed 
administrat ively when, in OIG's assessment, it has been or is being appropriately 
t reated by another agency or depar tment , the matter was consol idated w i th another 
investigation or, in rare circumstances, OIG de te rmined that fur ther act ion was 
unwarranted. 

TABLE # 4 - CASES C O N C L U D E D IN TH E FOURTH QUARTER 

Statu.si:̂ --"-• .• .1*--"' • "-Nu..m.bef:bf..Gase5;;. . . ;•• • -

Referred to a City Depar tment 301 -

Referred to a Sister/External Agency 46 

Sustained 16 

Not Sustained 7 

Closed AdtTiinistratively 7 

Total 377 

E. PENDING MATTERS 

At the close o f th i s quarter, OIG had a total of 204 pending matters, inc luding 

investigations opened dur ing the quarter 

l-V\GE 6 



FOURTH QUARTER REfK)RT JANUARY 15, 2020 

F. NVESTIGATIONS NOT CONCLUDED IN TWELVE MONTHS 

Under MCC § 2-56-080, OIC must provide quarterly statistical data on pending 
investigations open for more than 12 months. Of the 204 pending matters, 66 
investigations have been open for at least 12 months. The fol lowing table shows the 
general reasons that these investigations reniain active. 

TABLE # S - R E A S O N S 1 NVESTIGATIONS VVERE N O T C O N C L U D E D IN TWELVE 

M O N T H S 

^flegsph' .\:XMj.^xM i l i m b e r ^ i c l l n v ^ k i o B . ^ ' " M M .• -

Complex or resource-intensive 

investigation, wh ich may involve dif f icult 

issues or mul t ip le subjects 

50 

Extended due to higher-risk, t ime-

sensitive investigations 
13 

Addi t ional compla ints added dur ing the 

course o f t h e investigation 

1 

On hold, so as not to interfere w i th 

another ongo ing investigation 
2 

Total 66 

C. ETHICS ORDINANCE COMPLAINTS 

This quarter, OIG received 12 Ethics Ordinance complaints. OIG decl ined 5 connplafnts 
because they lacked foundat ion, opened 2 for investigation, referred 2 to the 
appropr iate City depar tment , and 3 are pending. 

H. PUBLIC BUILDING COMMISSION COMPLAINTS AND 
INVESTIGATIONS 

OIG received one compla in t related to the Public Bui ld ing Commission (PBC) this 
quarter. 

RACF 7 



FOUf? I H QlJAfTfi: R REPORT JANUARY 15, 2020 

III. ADMINISTRATIVE CASES 
OIC investigations may result in administrat ive sanctions, cr iminal charges, or both. 
Investigations leading to administrat ive sanctions involve violations of City rules, 
policies or procedures, and/or waste or inefficiency For "sustained" administrat ive 
cases, OIG produces summary reports of investigation''—a summary and analysis of 
the evidence and recommendat ions for disciplinary or other corrective action. OIG 
sends these reports to the appropr iate authority, including the Office o f t h e Mayor, 
the Corporation Counsel, and the Cfty departrments affected by or involved in the 
investigation. When officials are found to be in violation of campa ign f inance 
regulations, the law affords t h e m the oppor tun i ty to cure the violation by returning 
excess funds 

A. CAMPAIGN FINANCE INVESTIGATIONS 

The MCC bans Gity vendors, lobbyists, and those seeking to do business w i th the City 
frotm cont r ibut ing over $1,500 annually to any elected City official's or candidate's 
political campaign. Potential violations of the cap are identi f ied th rough compla in ts 
and OIC analysis. Other rules and regulations such as Executive Order 201T4 place 
fur ther restrictions on donations. Once a potential violation is identi f ied, OIG notifies 
the donor and the donat ion recipient of the violat ion and, in accordance w i th the 

• MCC, provides the individual or enti ty 10 days to chal lenge the de termina t ion or cure 
the violation by returning the excess donation.' ' If the excess donat ion is returned in a 
t imely manner, or it is de te rmined that a violation did not occur, OIG closes the 
mat ter administratively. In the event the matter is not cured or r ightful ly chal lenged, 
OIG will sustain an investigation and deliver the case to the Board of Ethics for 
adjudicat ion This quarter OIG resolved no campa ign f inance violat ion matters. 

B. SUSTAINED ADMINISTRATIVE INVESTIGATIONS 

The fol lowing are brief synopses of administrat ive investigations comple ted and 

reported as sustained investigative matters. These synopses are in tended to il lustrate 

the general nature and ou tcome o f t h e cases for public report ing purposes and thus 

may not contain all al legations and/or f indings for each case. 

In addi t ion to OIG's f indings, each synopsis includes the action taken by the 

depar tment in response to OIG's recommendat ions. City'departtments have 30 days 

Per MCC §• 2-55-050, "Upon conclusion of an invest igat ion it'ie mst jector genera! stiall issue a s u m m a i y 

report thereon JJie lepor t si'iaN be filed w i t f i rtie mayor, and iTiay iy-) fi led w i t h tf ie head of eacti 

depar t rnent ot ot f ie i agency affected Ijy or involved in rt"ie invesngat ion " 

- If t f ie cionor ancl/or reci f j ient was altoady aware that t f io exc!::'SS cloi iation was a violarion at ;i"ie t i rnc t l ie 

donat ion was made, t t ien ttiey may not tiave tt'ie opportuni i .y to cute tf ie violat.icjn ano' avoid a fine 

v .̂Gfv 8 



FOUt)t H QUAf^TER REPCJRT JANUARY 15, 2020 

to respond to OIG recommendations.'-'This response informs OIG of what action the 

department intends to take. Departments must follow strict protocols, set forth in the 

City's Personnel Rules, Procurement Rules, and/or applicable collective bargaining 

agreenients, prior to imposing disciplinary or corrective action. 

TABLE l.;6 - OVERVlEV\/ OF CASES COMPLETED AND REPORTED AS 

SUSTAINED MATTERS 

Case 
:Number .. 

-TDepaTtment or;?-

.^Aggncy,..:,. 

•oiG*^ 
Reeif f ivmendation ^ i ^ , 

•.,De pa;rt mmst ô r ^ p f •;. • : 

•AgghSy Act ion 

#19-1302 Aviation Discharge 

Resigned in lieu of 

discharge 

#19-0213 
Family and 
Support Services 

Find tha t the 
evidence established 
violations and 
designate as 
ineligible for rehire 

Retired under inquiry; 
designated as ineligible for 
rehire 

-•/fl9-0009 Library 

Discipline 

commensura te w i th 
the gravity of 
violations 2-week suspension 

#19-0004 Water Discharge 

Retired under inquiry; 

designated as ineligible for 

rehire 

#18-0788 Aviation Discharge 

Resigned in lieu of 
discharge; designated as 
ineligible for rehire 

#18-0610 

Streets and 

Sanitation 

Discipline 

commensura te w i th 

the gravity of 

violations Wr i t ten repr imand 

#18-0191 

Emergency 
Management and 
Communicat ions 

Find that the 
evidence established 
violations and 
designate as 
ineligible for rehire 

Resigned under inquiry; 
designated as ineligible for 
rehire 

#17-0632 City Council 

Find probable cause 
of an ethics violation No penalty 

•' PBC; fias 60 days to respond to a s u m m a r y report of invest igat ion by stat ing a descr ipt ion of any 

discipl inaiy or admin is t i ative act ion tafcen by the C^oirimission If Pl-^C chooses not to tal<.e act ion or tal<es 

an act ion di f ferent f t o m that r ecomn ienoed tjy OKj , l-'fiC; nu ist clesca loe : I iat actio;': and explain tt ie 

reascMis for ifiai. aivtion 

PACE 9 



FCil.lRTH QUAI-ri'ER REPGJRT JANUARY 15, 2020 

5'Ca.se. • Department, or 

•Agency " '•' 

OIG 
Recommenda t ion ' ' v..̂  

Department or XM:i.-. -X -:. -^. xx:r:r '-\ -^'i^yx 
;AgencyAetiong^' ^ .X{ 

#17-0578 Procure^ment Debarment 

Requested wr i t ten 
response fronn the subject 
w i th in 30 days 

#17-0486 Fire 

Find probable cause 
of an ethics violation 

Debarment 

CFD employee: prel iminary 
f inding of probable cause 

City contractor, wr i t ten 

response under review 

#17-0026 Police Discharge 

Discharged; appeal 
pend ing 

#14-0165 Housing Discharge 

Discharged; arbi trat ion 

pending 

1. False Statements, Misuse of Sick Leave, and Credit Card Fraud (#19-1302) 

An OIG investigation established that a deputy commissioner in the Chicago 
Depar tment of Aviation (CDA) violated City of Chicago Personnel Rules and the Illinois 
Criminal Code. Specifically, dur ing a period spanning December 2017 t h rough June 
2019, the deputy commissioner made several purchases using personal credit cards 
tota l ing approximately $35,286.12, and later f raudulent ly d isputed those charges w i t h 
the credit card company. After being arrested and whi le in the custody o f t h e Cook 
County Sheri'iff's Office (CCSO), the deputy connmissioner repeatedly lied to the CDA 
commissioner by calling and emai l ing on r j iu l t ip le days, c la iming that the deputy 
cornmissioner would be absent f rom work due to a car accident, wh ich necessitated a 
t r ip to the hospital and tak ing sick leave—when in fact the deputy cotmmissioner was 
either in the custody of CCSO or conceal ing the arrest 

OIG recofmmended that CDA discharge the deputy commissioner and refer the 

deputy commissioner for p lacement on the ineligible for rehire list main ta ined by the 

Depar tment of Human Resources (DHR). Four days after OIG submi t ted its 

recommendat ion to CDA, the deputy commissioner resigned f rom CDA CDA referred 

the deputy commissioner for p lacement on the ineligible for rehire list. 

2. Sexual Harassment (#19-0213) 

An OIG investigation established that a Depar tment of Family and Support Services 
(DFSS) district inanager, whi le work ing at a DFSS Commun i t y Service Center, sexually 
harassed numerous individuals. On several occasions, tf ie district n ianager tmade 
unwanted c o m m e n t s about a security guard's physical appearance, and on one 
occasion, r.ubbed the shoulders o f t h e same securif:y guard w i thou t the security 

PAGE 10 



!=OURTI I QUARTER REPORT JANUARY 15, 2020 

guard's consent. The district manager also niacle sexually explicit c o m m e n t s to 

another security guard. 

Addit ionally, the district manager kissed the lips of a m e m b e r of the public and 

af terward called her repeatedly. The member o f t h e public was a relative of one o f t h e 

district manager's corworkers anci had menta l health and developmenta l delays that 

rendered their funct ioning level as that of an adolescent. The district manager also 

made unwanted physical contact w i th a Depar tment of Fleet and Facility 

Management (2FM) employee by rubbing the employee's arim and hugg ing the 

employee several t imes. On one occasion, the district manager a t t emp ted to kiss the 

2FM employee. 

OIG's investigation also found that the district manager had a history of sexually 
harassing female co-workers t h rough inappropriate c o m m e n t s and unwanted 
physical contact. The district manager underwent discipline and t ra in ing as a result of 
the prior violations. Shortly after OIG c o m m e n c e d the investigation, the district 
manager retired f rom City employment . Later, the district manager refused to appear 
for an OIG interview regarding the misconduct . 

OIG recommended DFSS f ind that the evidence established the distr ict manager 's 

violations o f t h e City's Diversity and Equal Employment Oppor tun i ty Policy and 

Personnel Rules, place the OIG report and the at tached evidentiary files in the district 

nnanager's personnel file, and refer the district manager for p lacement on the 

ineligible for rehire list mainta ined by DHR. 

Due to DFSS' assignment o f t h e district manager to a.location that inc luded daily 
contact w i th members o f t h e public and lack of close moni to r ing by supervisors, OIG 
also recommended that DFSS examine its policies and procedures on the 
assignment and supervision of employees who interact w i th the public, especially 
employees w i th a history of being perpetrators of sexual harassment. 

In response, DFSS agreed w i th OIG's recommendat ion regardtng the district 
tmanager, placed the report and evidentiary files in the distnct manager's personnel 
file, and requested that DHR place the district manager's name on the ineligible for 
rehire list. DFSS also responded that, after consultat ion w i th the Depar tment of Law, 
the employee was p romoted to the district manager posit ion because the employee 
had acted appropriately since the prior misconduct discipl ine and "[the employee] 
should not be denied a proniot ion oppor tun i ty based on a past mistake." 
Nevertheless, the response stated, "DFSS is seeking clarif ication f rom both the Law 
Depar tment and DHR to assist w i th creating a policy regarding the hir ing of internal 
candidates w i th disciplinary background issues" 
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3. Misuse of a City Vehicle (#19-0009) 

An OIG investigation established that a Chicago Public Library (CPL) motor truck 
driver (MTD), engaged in the unauthor ized use o fa City vehicle on at least t w o 
occasions by transport ing non-CPL i tems in residential areas for personal use. The 
MTD admi t ted to the unauthor ized use of the City vehicle The MTD's use o f t h e City 
vehicle to t ransport non-CPL niaterials gave the impression to City residents that a 
City employee may use a City vehicle as personal property or for quest ionable activity 
and const i tuted conduct unbecoming o fa City employee. 

OIG recommended that CPL impose discipline against the MTD, commensura te w i th 

the gravity of the violations, past disciplinary record, and any other relevant 

considerations.'' In response, CPL issued the MTD a two-week suspension. 

4. Residency Violation (#19-0004) 

An OIG investigation established that a former construct ion laborer w i t h the Chicago 
Depar tment of Water Management (DWM) lived in Norridge, Illinois ("Norridge 
property"), in violation o f t h e City's Municipal Code (MCG) § 2-152-050, requir ing its 
employees to reside in Chicago. In the course o f t h e investigation, OIG gathered 
documents including the deed, as well the water, gas, and electrical uti l i ty bills for the 
Norr idge property, all of wh ich were in the laborer's name. OIG conduc ted mul t ip le 
surveillances at the Norr idge property, and on six occasions observed the laborer 
dr iving to work f rom the Norr idge property. On t w o surveillances of the laborer's 
c lainied Chicago property, the laborer was not observed on either day Fol lowing' 
OIG's interview of the laborer, the laborer retired f rom the City, effective twen ty days 
aft.er the laborer's interview. 

Were the laborer still a City employee, OIG wou ld have recommended that DWM take 
action consonant w i th the Residency Ordinance and discharge the laborer and refer 
the laborer for p lacement on the ineligible list mainta ined by DHR Hov\/ever, because 
the laborer resigned almost immediate ly after being interviewed, OIG recommended 
that DWM f ind that the evidence establishes the residency violation, refer the laborer 
for p lacement on the ineligible for rehire list mainta ined by DHR, and place the OIG 
report and evidentiary files in the laborer's personnel file. 

In response, DWM concurred w i th OIG's recommendat ions, requested that DHR 

place the laborer on the ineligible for rehire list, and placed the report and the 

at tached evidentiary files in the laborer's personnel file. 

•• OIG sepaiately issued the Chicago Put.ilic Litirary Global f^osi'.io:"iing System Data Tracking Nnti f icat io: i . 

arising f rom this invest igat ion, w inch is sutTimarized on p 29 
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5. Residency Violatfon (#18-0788) 

An OIC investigation established that a CDA manag ing deputy commissioner lived in 
Naperville, Illinois (the "Naperville property"), in violation of MCC § 2-152-050, requir ing 

' Its employees to reside in Chicago. OIG obta ined documen ts inc luding a deed and 
n ior tgage in the deputy commissioner 's name for the Naperville property, as well as 
DuPage County property tax bills, uti l i ty bills, and vehicle registrations listing the 
Naperville property. OIG conducted mul t ip le surveillances at the Naperville property, 
and on mul t ip le occasions observed the deputy cornniissioner c o m m u t e to work 
f rom Naperville to the deputy commissioner's O'Hare International Airport office. 
Furthermore, the deputy commissioner admi t ted to residing fu l l - t ime in Naperville 
and only mainta in ing an apar tment in the City to satisfy the residency requirenient . 

OIG recommended that CDA take action consonant w i th the residency ordinance, 

discharge the deputy commissioner and refer the deputy commissioner for 

p lacement on the ineligible for rehire list mainta ined by DHR. Subsequently, the 

deputy commissioner resigned in lieu of discharge and was placed on the ineligible 

for rehire list. 

6. Harassment, Discourteous Treatment, and Incompetence (#18-0610) 

An OIG investigation established that a Depar tment of Streets and Sanitation (DSS) 

ward super intendent harassed construct ion crews and provided ni is leading 

informat ion concerning alleged code violations at a residential property, cost ing the 

homeowners t ime and money and displaying the ward super intendent 's 

incompetence. Specifically, the ward super in tendent repeatedly issued warn ings to 

the homeowners and construct ion crew for alleged MCC violations referencing non­

existent court hearings and, in excess o f t h e ward super intendent 's authori ty, verbally 

threated to issue $5000 fines and to ld the construct ion crew to stop work. 

The investigation further established that a DSS division super in tendent verbally, and 

in excess o f t h e division super intendent 's authority, to ld workers at the same 

residential property to stop work for failure to have a portable toilet on site, displaying 

discourteous t rea tment to the workers and incompetence in the division 

super intendent 's duties. 

OIG recommended that DSS impose discipline against the ward super intendent and 

division super intendent commensura te w i th the gravity of the violations, past 

disciplinary records, and any other relevant considerations 

In response, DSS noted that the t w o subjects were dedicated employees w h o worked 
"to keep their Ward,and Division clean." Flowever, DSS said that this d id not excuse 
the behavior identif ied by OIG's investigation and issued botf i employees wr i t ten 
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reprimands. In November, the Depar tment held remedial t ra in ing for all employees 

w i th code'enforcement responsibilities. 

7. Fraudulent Use of Sick and FMLA Leave (#18-0191) 

An OIG investigation established that a former police commun ica t ions operator I 
(PCO I) for the Office of Emergency Management and Communica t ions (OEMC) 
misused Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) al lowance to take t w o days off in order 
to extend a pre-planned vacation to Atlanta, Georgia, vyith family and friends. Whi le in 
Atlanta, the PCO I went shopping, bowl ing, and stayed at a d o w n t o w n hotel. Tfie PCO 
I resigned f rom OEMC after OIG interviewed them. 

OIG recon imended that OEMC f ind that the evidence established the violations, place 

OIG's report and evidentiary files in the PCO I's personnel file, and refer the PCO I for 

p lacement on the ineligible for rehire list mainta ined by DHR. 

In response, OEMC stated it found that the evidence f rom OIG's investigation 

established the violations, and had the employee not resigned, OEMIC wou ld have 

sought discharge. OEMC referred the PCO I for p lacement on the ineligible for rehire 

list and placed OIG's report and evidentiary files in the PCO I's personnel file. 

OEMC further stated that it does not tolerate f raudulent use of FMLA and sick leave 

and has imp lemen ted a process to provide resources and counsel ing to employees 

w h o exhibit at tendance issues. OEMC also established an FMLA Efficient Use and 

Review Commi t tee to examine FMLA procedures to keep in line w i th best practices 

and inst i tuted imandatory FMLA tra in ing for supervisors to identify and address FMLA 

and sick leave use and abuse. 

8. Prohibi ted Political Activity and Misuse of City Property (#17-0632) 

An OIG investigation established that an a lderman violated the City's Ethics 
Ordinance, MCC § 2-156-135(b), by engaging in prohib i ted political activity when the 
a lderman directed ward office staff to place a sign bearing the alderman's name and 
the name o fa state representative on the side o fa graffit i blaster that the a lderman 
purchased in 2013 w i th City funds. The a lderman knew that the sign wou ld be 
proni inent ly displayed in and around the ward when the equ ipmen t was used to 
remove graffit i . The aldernian also used a photograph of the graffit i blaster in a 
political print advertiseiment featur ing the state representative and the a lderman In 
addit ion, the a lderman knowingly al lowed a non-City employee to use the City-
owned graffit i blaster t h roughou t the state representative's district, wh ich extends 
outside the City limits, in violation of MGC § 2-156-060, wh ich prohibi ts misuse of City 
property. 
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OIG asked the City o fCh icago Board of Ethics (BOE or "the Board") to f ind probable 

cause that the a lderman violated MCC Section 2-155-060 and subsect ion 2-155-135(b), 

and to conduct the appropriate proceedings. 

In response, BOE voted 3 to 1 in decl in ing to consider the case, concluding that OIG 
had lacked jur isdict ion to investigate the matter unti l an OIG employee signed a 
compla in t against the alderman, an event wh ich occurred shortly before OIG's 
interview of the alderman. BOE relied on MCC § 2-55-045(a), a provision wh ich has 
since been rescinded, and which dur ing the relevant period provided, "[t]he inspector 
general may not undertake an investigation of any a lderman except pursuant to a 
compla in t that (1) natmes the alderman; and (2) states the facts under ly ing the 
compla int ; and (3) is signed by the person mak ing the complaint . A city officer or city 
employee may be a signatory a complaint." The Board noted that an OIG employee 
signed a compla in t before the interview o f t h e a lderman but conc luded that, based 
on its reading o f t h e ordinance, the Board could not consider any evidence gathered 
before the compla in t was signed, and given tha t the evidence gathered before the 
compla in t was so inter twined w i th the subsequent interviews, it could not proceed on 
the interviews alone. The Board took its action w i thou t any consul tat ion w i th OIG and 
did not acknowledge that at the outset o f t h e case the compla in t was against 
unknown employees o f t h e alderman's office, not the a lderman. As w i th all cases, in 
the course o f t h e investigation OIG's understanding o f t h e facts developed, and in this 
mat ter deviated f rom the initial anonymous compla int . OIG then took appropr iate 
action in l ight o f t h e informat ion gathered." 

As a result of its decision, the Board did not act on the political violations and simply 
advised the a lderman "to adhere to City regulations, wh ich dictate that only City 
government personnel can use/operate Ci ty-owned property. More specifically, the 
graffit i blaster, and any other equ ipmen t purchased th rough City funds, can be 
operated only by City employees." Addit ionally, the Board advised the a lderman to 
consider identi fying the graffit i blaster and other similarly purchased equ ipmen t as 
"Property of the City of Chicago" or property of the ward. 

9. Contractor Fraud and Submission of Altered Documents (#17-0578) 

An OIC investigation established that a City of Ghicago contractor violated the City's 

Depar tment of Procurement Services (DPS) Debarment Rules by submi t t i ng bid 

packages contain ing Schedule C forms meant to ensure W o m a n - O w n e d Business 

Enterprise (WBE) subcontractor part ic ipat ion that had been altered w i thou t the 

consent of tho . luthor ing subcontractor on two occasions. Specifically, when 

submi t t ina a Schedule C f rom a certif ied WBE, the contractor crossed out several line 

OIG sepaiately issu^eci tt ie Unregistered W a i d Office 1: c.iuipment Noti f icat ion, arising f rom itii;-: 

invesngat mn, '-A'tncfi is summar ized on p 30 
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I tems and reduced the total pricing, w i thout the approval o f t h e author ing 

subcontractor. On a separate bid, the contractor erased the pricing provided by a 

WBE subcontractor on the Schedule C it subn i i t ted to the City and added in a lower 

number. 

OIG recommended that DPS inittate debarment proceedings for the purpose of 
de te rmin ing appropr iate remedial action against the contractor. In response, DPS 
sent a letter to the contractor, in forming t h e m that OIG had recommended the 
init iation of debarment proceedings. The letter also in formed the contractor that they 
had 30 days to respond in wr i t ing to the allegations contained in OIG's report, after 
wh ich DPS wou ld make further f indings. 

10. Ethics Violations, Conflict of Interest and Post -Employment Restrictions, 

Contractor Misconduct, and False Statements (#17-0486) 

An OIG investigation established that a former Chicago Fire Depar tment (CFD) 
employee violated the post -employment (§ 2-156-100), confl ict of interest (§ 2-155-080), 
and disclosure of confidential informat ion (§2-155-070) provisions of the City's 
govemmenta l Ethics Ordinance. More specifically, the employee, whi le employed by 
the City, exercised contract managemen t author i ty over a City contract by draf t ing a 
request for proposal (RFP) whi le negot iat ing and securing emp loymen t w i th a 
company that responded to the RFP and was eventually awarded the contract. After 
retir ing f rom City employment , the employee was actively involved in the contract as 
an employee o f t h e City contractor. 

OIG's investigation further established that the'City contractor violated MCC § 1-21-
010(a), the terms of its City contract, and the City's Debarment Rules. More specifically, 
the contractor submi t ted false statements in the RFP bid when the contractor 
provided "Not applicable" in the section inquir ing about confl icts of interest, and in an 
Economic Disclosure Statement when the contractor responded "None" to the 
section inquir ing whether any current employees were employed by t he City in the 
preceding twelve months. Furthermore, the contractor violated confl ict of interest 
provisions of their City contract by failing to screen a former City employee f rom 
involvement in a City contract due to the former employee's access to conf ident ial 
in format ion 

OIG recommended that BOE find probable cause to believe the former CFD 

employee violated the Ethics Ordinance and irnpose appropr iate sanctions. OIG 

further recornmended that DPS initiate debarment proceedings against the City 

contractor for the purpose of de termin ing appropr iate remedial act ion 

in response, at its October 29, 2019 meet ing BOF made a prel iminary f inding of 
probable cause to believe the former CFD employee had violated the Ethics 
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Ordinance. The former employee may a t temp t to resolve this mat ter by paying a f ine 

or proceeding to an administrat ive hearing. DPS noti f ied the City contractor that they 

were the subject of a sustained OIC report and provided a copy of OIG's report after 

the contractor signed a confidential i ty agreement. On December 16, 2019, DPS 

received a copy o f t h e contractor's response, wh ich is current ly under review. 

11. Misuse of Confidential Informat ion for Personal Gain and False 

Statements (#17-0026) 

An OIG investigation established that a former investigator in the now-defunct 
Independent Police Review Author i ty (IPRA), (1) concealed mater iaHnformat ion 
regarding a police-involved shoot ing under IPRA's jur isdict ion, (2) visited and 
repeatedly commun ica ted w i th the fami ly of a police shoot ing v ic t im and failed to 
in form IPRA, and (3) sought to refer and receive a referral fee for connect ing the 
shoot ing vict im's family w i th an attorney. Specifically, fo l lowing a fatal, police-involved 
shoot ing o fa civilian on November 23, 2015, a responding Chicago Police Depar tment 
(CPD) police officer provided sensitive informat ion, such as the potent ial location of 
the weapon, as well as photographs, to the then- invest igator regarding the shoot ing 
on November 25, 2016. On the same date, the investigator provided the vict im's home 
address to an acquaintance at the National At torney Referral Service, t hen arranged 
and at tended a meet ing between that representative, an attorney, and the vict im's 
family. The then-invest igator never in formed anyone at IPRA o fcon tac t w i th the 
attorney referral service or the vict im's family, wai ted four days to in form IPRA o f t h e 
informat ion received f rom the CPD police officer, and repeatedly called members of 
the vict im's family after their meet ing. Dur ing the investigation, the investigator lied 
or omi t ted niaterial in format ion in s tatements to IPRA, the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation, and OIG. 

OIG recommended that CPD discharge the former IPRA invest igator—who had by 
that point become employed as a CPD civilian member and refer the men ibe r for 
p lacement on the ineligible for rehire list mainta ined by DHR. In response, CPD 
discharged the employee and referred the employee for p lacement on the ineligible 
for rehire list. The employee later fi led for arbitrat ion to chal lenge the discharge. 

12. Submission of Forged and False Documents (#14-0165) 

An OIG investigation established that a Depar tment of Flousing (DOH) rehabi l i tat ion 

construct ion specialist (RCS), whi le work ing in the same capacity for the Depar tment 

of Planning and Development (DPD) in 2014, submi t ted fraudulent and forged final 

payment authorizations (known as paying agent forms, or "PAFs") pertaining to seven 

porch construct ion projects. The porch construct ion projects were part o f t h e City's 

Emergency Housing Assistance Procjram wh ich provided select City residents w i th 
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new porches after a detai led appl icat ion process. DPD required finalized PAFs before 

a contractor was paid for a comple ted porch rehabil i tat ion project 

The RCS submi t ted false PAFs to DPD, stat ing that the RCS had inspected and 

approved of .seven comple ted porch replacement projects in February 2014 In reality, 

the contractor hired by the City to comple te the residential porch replacements had 

not comple ted any o f t h e seven porch projects and had not even begun construct ion 

for five o f t h e seven. Due to the RCS' f raudulent submissions, DPD paid the contractor 

more than $118,000 for those seven porch projects even t h o u g h the work had not 

been comple ted 

At the end of March 2014, DPD supervisors became aware o f t h e RCS' 
misrepresentat ions about the porch projects. Af terward, the RCS and the contractor 
a t t emp ted to conceal their decept ion by swiftly comple t ing all seven projects 
between March 25, 2014, and March 31, 2014. Dur ing that six-day t ime period, the RCS 
and agents of the contractor had cell phone contact over 100 t imes. Interviews of the 
affected homeowners also established that the contractor had sent mul t ip le teams to 
the residences dur ing tha t t ime period to rapidly construct the porches. 

OIG recommended that DOH discharge the RCS and refer t he RCS for permanent 
p lacement on the ineligible for rehire list mainta ined by DHR. In response, DOH 
dischiarged the employee and referred the employee for p lacement on the ineligible 
for rehire list The employee appealed the discharge. The appeal ts current ly pending. 

OIG delayed the report ing o f t h e investtgatlon to DOH to avoid interfer ing w i th a 
federal cr iminal investigation into the RCS' conduct related to the porch projects. As 
separately reported in the th i rd quarter of 2019, on July 16, 2019, the U.S. District Court 
for the Northern Distrtct of Illinois unsealed a cr iminal ind ic tment returned against 
the RCS by a federal grand jury in March 2019. The two-count ind ic tment charges the 
RCS w i th wire fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1343) and mak ing false s tatements to special agents of 
the Federal Bureau of Investigation (18 U.S.C. § 1001). On July 16, 2019, the RCS was 
arraigned on those charges. The federal charges against the RCS are current ly 
pending 
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IV. CRIMINAL CASES, ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS, 
GRIEVANCES, AND RECOVERIES 

Criminal investigations may uncover violations of local, state, or federal cr iminal laws, 

and may be prosecuted by the U.S. Attorney's Office, the Illinois At torney General's 

Office, or the Cook County State's Attorney's Office, as appropr iate For the purposes 

of OIG quarterly summaries, cr iminal cases are considered concluded when the 

subject(s) of the case is publicly charged by compla int , in format ion, or indictment.- ' 

in administrat ive cases, a Gity employee may be ent i t led to appeal or grieve a 
depar tmenta l disciplinary action, depend ing on the type of corrective action taken 
and the employee's classification under the City's Personnel Rules and/or appl icable 
collective bargaining agreements. OIG moni tors the results of administrat ive appeals 
before the Human Resources Board (HRB) and grievance arbitrat ions concern ing 
d ie ' s disciplinary recommendat ions. 

A. SYNOPSESOFCRIMINALCASES 

This quarter, there were no new developments in pending cr iminal cases to report. 

B. DEVELOPMENTS IN PRIOR CHARGED CRIMINAL CASES 

This quarter, there were no developments in previously reported cr iminal cases. 

C. SYNOPSES AND RESULTS OF ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS, 
GRIEVANCES, OR OTHER ACTIONS 

OIC has been notif ied of four updates regarding appeals to HRB or an arbitrator or 

other actions this quarter regarding discipline imposed or other actions result ing 

f rom OIG investigations. 

1. Sexual Battery by a CFD Fireftghter (#18-0525) 

As reported in the first quarter of 2019, an OIG investigation established that a CFD 
f iref ighter sexually harassed and c o m m i t t e d battery against a City College of Chicago 
student part ic ipat ing in a CFD ride-along progratm as part of the student 's t ra ining to 
be a paramedic Specifically, whi le on duty and eat ing dinner in the firehouse, the 
firefighter made lewd comiments and rubbed the student 's th igh and genitals vv/hile 
tfiey were seated together at a dinner table. OIG recommended that CFD discharge 

'•• OIG may issue sun ima ty repotts of invest igat ion recotTini6Micliiig admin is t ta t ive tici ion Ijased on 

cnni inat conduct prior Co. dutuic;. or after cr iminal prcisecution 
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the firefighter and refer the firefighter for p lacement on the ineligible for rehire list 

mainta ined by DHR. 

In response, CFD discharged the f irefighter and placed the f iref ighter on the ineligible 

for rehire list. The firefighter filed a grievance chal lenging the discharge, and on July 

22, 2019, the City and the firefighter submi t ted the case to an arbi trat ion hearing On 

December 9, 2019, the arbitrator denied the firefighter's grievance, held that the City 

had just cause to discharge the firefighter, and upheld the f irefighter's discharge in 

full 

2. FMLA Fraud and False Statements (-#15-04-65) 

As reported in the four th quarter of 2018, an OIG investigation established that a DSS 
sanitation laborer used leave under FMLA, as well as personal leave, ostensibly to care 
for an ill family member , when in fact the laborer was incarcerated for a felony 
convict ion of Aggravated Driving Under the Influence. Whi le incarcerated, the laborer, 
t h rough a relative, submi t ted f raudulent leave extension requests and doctor 's notes 
to DSS in order to support the false representation that the laborer was cont inu ing to 
care for the ill family member . Additionally, upon release f rom prison, and before 
returning to active duty, the laborer falsely af f i rmed on a cr iminal background 
disclosure fo rm that the laborer had never been convicted of a cr ime. 

OIG recommended DSS discharge the laborer and refer the laborer for p lacement on 
the ineligible for rehire list mainta ined by DHR. In response, DSS discharged the 
employee and placed the employee on the ineligible for rehire list. The employee 
appealed the discharge. After an evidentiary hearing, HRB upheld the employee's 
discharge. 

OIG referred the doctor who provided the f raudulent medical notes to the Illinois 

Depar tment of Financial and Professional Regulation (IDFPR). Subsequently, IDFPR 

filed a compla in t against the doctor. As a result, the doctor's medical license was 

suspended for one mon th , and currently, the medical license remains in a 

probationary status. 

3. Improper Ownership Interest in a City Vendor (#14-0345) 

In the first quarter of 2018, OIG reported that an investigation established that a City 
vendor violated DPS' EJebarment Rules Specifically, evidence suppor ted a f ind ing 
thai the vendor al lowed a CFD battal ion chief to hold an ownersf i ip interest in the 
vendor, in violation of the Ethics Ordinance, Section 2-156-110(a), prohib i t ing City 
employees f rom having an ownership interest in an enti ty do ing business w i th the 
City Further, the vendor submi t ted false Economic Disclosure Statements to DPS, 

RA-
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which misrepresented 1) that no City employee had a prohib i ted financial interest in 

the vendor, and 2) the individuals holding ownership tnterest tn the vendor. 

OIG recommended that DPS init iate debarment proceedings against the vendor. In 

response, DPS sent a letter to the vendor, in forming the vendor that OIG had 

recommended debarment . The letter also in formed the vendor that they had 30 days 

to,respond to the allegations contained in OIG's report, after wh ich DPS wou ld make 

a decision. 

In December 2019, DPS entered into a M e m o r a n d u m of Understanding (MOU) w i th 
the vendor. The MOU states that the vendor submi t ted affidavits to DPS swearing to 
the absence of any ownership or beneficial interest by the battal ion chief at the t i m e 
of the vendor's bid or for the durat ion o f t h e contract. The vendor acknowledged that 
OIG's "[r jeport identif ied discrepancies in [the vendor's] corporate documen ts and 
disclosures to the City, upon wh ich basis a reasonable person could conclude that 
[the vendor] had violated the City's Ethics Ordinance and that it had submi t ted a false 
Economic Disclosure Statement. [The vendor] further acknowledge[d] tha t various 
corporate documents and fi l ings inaccurately listed [the battal ion chief] as an owner 
of" the vendor. 

Those documents and fi l ings included notarized mor tgages for the vendor's property 
and forms seeking federal benefits on behalf of the vendor. The federal benefits fo rm 
listed the battal ion chief as a 25 percent owner o f t h e vendor and stated tha t the 
battal ion chief had signature author i ty and per formed managemen t dut ies for the 
vendor. The battal ion chief signed the fo rm and certi f ied that "all t he in format ion 
entered on this documen t and any suppor t ing documenta t ion is t rue and correct." 

The MOU states that DF^S and the vendor acknowledge the vendor "submi t ted 
affidavits swearing to the absence of any ownership or beneficial interest by [the 
battal ion chief] in [the vendor] or in the real estate on wh ich [the vendor] is located at 
both the t i m e of the bid that resulted in [the Contract] as well as for t he durat ion of 
the Contract, and that [the battal ion chief] does not and will not part ic ipate in the 
managen ien t or running of [the vendor]. DPS acknowledgefd] that, in l ight of [the 
vendor's] and [the battal ion chiefs] affidavits, [the vendor's] corporate documents and 
fi l ings that describe [the battal ion chief] as an owner of [the vendor] were likely 
inaccurately comple ted by [the vendor]. DPS further acknowledges that [the battal ion 
chief's spouse], has an ownership interest in [the vendor] v^ /̂hlch is related to or derived 
f rom [the spouse's] independent occupat ion, business, or profession." The vendor is 
operated by the battal ion chief's parents and siblings. 

DPS and the vendor agreed that the battal ion chief "v̂ JiW not obta in any direct or 

indirect ownership interest in [the vendor] and [the battal ion chief] wil l not part ic ipate 

PAG E 21 



FOURTH QUARTER REPORT V ' JANUARY 15,2020 

in the management or running of [the vendor] at any t ime whi le [the vendor] is 

per forming or seeking to perform work for or provide goods to the City. [The vendor] 

further agrees that it will p rompt ly notify the City if [the battal ion chief| obtains any 

direct or indirect ownership interest in [the vendor] or if [the battal ion chief j performs 

any management activities or is otherwise involved in runn ing" the vendor. The 

vendor fur ther agreed "that, should the City f ind that [it] violated any of the te rms of 

this MOU, the CPO [Chief Procurement Officer] may issue a notice stat ing that [the 

vendor] may have violated the te rms o f th i s MOU, stat ing the facts suppor t ing the 

notice therein, and giving [the vendor] thirty-f ive (35) calendar days to respond in 

wr i t ing w i th any suppor t ing documents . After receiving [the vendor's] response, i f t he 

CPO determines that [the vendor] has violated the te rms o f t h i s MOU, the CPO may 

issue a decision imposing debarment of up to two (2) years." Each side agreed to bear 

its own costs and expenses. 

4. Preferential Treatment and Incompetent Supervision of a Homic ide 

Investigation (#11-0225) 

As previously reported in the first quarter of 2016, an OIG investigation found that six 
CPD members (two detectives and four supervisors) violated CPD rules and 
regulations in the course of their involvement in CPD's 2011 re-investigation o f t h e 
2004 homic ide of David Koschman. OIG found that the detectives and their 
supervising officers provided or created the appearance of preferential t rea tment for 
Richard J. Vanecko, former Mayor Daley's nephew. OIG also found tha t the officers 
had failed in a number of other ways to meet their duties, inc luding fail ing to per form 
a competen t investigation and failing to draft or ensure the draf t ing o fa t ru th fu l 
report. OIG recommended CPD discharge the two detectives and one supervisor, and 
impose discipline up to and including discharge for three supervisors. In response, 
CPD reported that one of the detectives resigned in lieu of discharge, and CPD 
suspended the other detective for one year. O f t h e four supervisors, three retired f rom 
CPD after OIG issued its report 

In February 2016; CPD filed charges w i th the Police Board seeking a one-year 
suspension for the remaining supervisor, for w h o m OIG recommended that CPD 
impose discipline up to and including discharge. The supervisor initially sought to 
dismiss t f ie Police Board case and filed a grievance seeking arbi trat ion o f t h e matter, 
an action which was l i t igated for nearly three years before the Illinois Appel late Court 
resolved the case in CPD's favor and the Illinois Supreme Court denied leave to appeal 
on November 28, 2018. Whi le the l i t igation regarding arbitrabi l i ty of the matter was 
pending, CPD and the officer proposed a set t lement in wh ich the officer agreed to a 
one-year suspension, subject to the Police Board's approval By orcier dated February 
21, 2017, however, the Police Board rejected the set t lement and directed its hearing 
officer to conduct a full evidentiary hearing to determine if the supervisor was gui l ty 
of the charges and, if so, to fashion an appropr iate penalty A hearing officer held a 
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four-day evidentiary hearing in August 2019, and on December 12, 2019, the Police 

Board issued its final decision. The Police Board concluded that the supervisor was 

gui l ty of violat ing CPD Rules 2, 3, 5,10, and 11, for the supervisor's role in the 

incompetent investigation and for failure to supervise the detectives in their draf t ing 

of a false report. Flowever, the Police Board concluded that the detectives and 

another supervisor were more at fault and de termined that the detectives' failures did 

not result in a loss of key evidence. The Police Board noted the supervisor's otherwise 

positive work history. As a result, the Police Board issued the supervisor a wr i t ten 

repr imand. 

D. RECOVERIES 

This quarter, OIG did not receive any reports of f inancial recoveries related to OIG 

investigations. 
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V. AUDITS, FOLLOW-UPS, AND REVIEWS 
In addi t ion to confidential disciplinary investigations, OIG produces a variety of public 
reports including independent and objective analyses and evaluations of City 
programs and operat ions w i th recommendat ions to s t rengthen and i fnprove the 
delivery of City services. These engagements focus on t f ie integrity, accountabi l i ty, 
economy, efficiency, and effectiveness of each subject. The fol lowing summarizes the 
four reports relea.sed this quarter. 

1. . Depar tment of Bui ldings Complaint-Based Inspections Audi t Fol low-Up 

Inquiry (#19-0589)"' 

OIG comple ted a fol low-up to its April 2018 audit o f t h e Depar tment of Buildings' 
(DOB) complaint-based inspection operations. The purpose o f t h e audi t w a s t e 
determine whether the Depar tment met required deadlines for responding to 
bui ld ing complaints, whether it effectively priorit ized such complaints, and whether 
the records of bui ld ing code violations available to the public are comple te and 
accurate. Our audit found that DOB did not have effective strategies for priorit izing 
complaint-based inspections, resulting in potential health and safety hazards go ing 
unaddressed for longer than al lowed b y t h e MCC. We also found tha t the City's 
websites did not provide the public w i th a property's comple te violat ion history. OIG 
recommended that DOB address open and overdue emergency complaints, develop 
policies for responding to bui ld ing compla ints in a n ianner that compl ies w i th 
requi rements in the MCC, adopt inspection and compla in t mon i to r ing reports, and 
work w i th the Depar tment of Innovation and Technology (DolT) to provide comple te 
and accurate data to the public th rough DOB's public data sources. In response to 
the audit, DOB described corrective actions it wou ld take. 

In June 2019, OIG inquired about the status o f t h e corrective actions taken by DOB. 

Based on tfie Department 's responses, OIG concludes that DOB has partially 

imp lemen ted corrective actions related to the audit f indings. 

DOB has comple ted a staff ing analysis as part of its 2020 budget requests, updated 
data headings on its publicly available data sources, and addressed all open and 
overdue emergency cofi iplaints. DOB also worked wi th the Depar tment of Law to 
amend the Municipal Cocie to remove compla in t response deadlines, so it is no longer 
non-compl iant w i th the Code. In addit ion, DOB used the City's nev/ 311 system 'to 
develop moni to r ing reports. Flowever, the I'Department has not imp lemen ted 
corrective actions based on OIG's other recommendat ions made in the .7018 audit 
Specifically, DOB. fias not documen ted standardized data entry and compla in t 
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priorit ization protocols, fixed known issues w i th the f i l ter ing and report ing logic o f t h e 

Department 's publicly available data sources, or worked w i th DolT to rollout mobi le, 

electronic inspections to all inspection bureaus. Moreover, there are data conversion 

errors in DOB's inspection record data that occurred when the City moved to a new 

311 system, and the Depar tment had a backlog of 1,855 open, overdue compla in ts as 

of October 23, 2019. 

2. Public Bui lding Commission Construct ion Change Orders Audi t Follow-

Up Inquiry (#19-0765)-' 

OIG comple ted a fol low-up to its June 2018 audit o f t h e Public Bui lding Commission 

of Chicago's (PBC) change order review and approval process. The purpose of the 

audit was to de termine if PBC could provide reasonable assurance to its clients that 

change orders i.e., agreements between contractors and clients author iz ing 

departures f rom original ly-approved contract terms—were just i f ied and reasonably 

priced. Our audit found that whi le PBG designed a robust change order process, 

ineffective imp lementa t ion o f t h e process permi t ted errors and inconsistencies in the 

recording of in format ion and recovery of damages. OIG recommended that PBC 

improve its change order review and approval process and revise and imp lemen t its 

Errors and Omissions (E & O) damage recovery policy. 

In response to the audit, PBC described several corrective actions it wou ld imp lemen t 

including standardized electronic cost proposal forms, internal change order 

trainings, and a comprehensive revision of its E & O Manual. 

In August 2019, OIG inquired about corrective actions taken by PBC. Based on RBCs 
fo l low-up response, OIG concluded that PBC substantial ly impleimented correctfve 
actions related to the f inding that it could not assure its clients all increases in project 
costs were just i f ied and reasonable. OIG based this conclusion on the RBC's 
imp lementa t ion of standardized change order forms, trainings, and procedures, and 
its progress toward the adopt ion o f a n electronic change order t racking .system In 
addit ion, OIG concluded that PBC partially imp lemen ted corrective actions related to 
the f ind ing that it could not provide adequate assurance it properly pursued 
recoverable damages at t r ibutable to architect errors. OIG reached this conclusion due 
to the progress toward the comprehensive update.of f-^BC's E & O Manual and the 
s t rengthening of procedures to assess and commun ica te E & O. 
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3. Chicago Low-Income Housing Trust Fund Housing Quality Standards 

Compl iance Process Audi t (#18-0001)'-' 

OIG conducted an audit of the Ghicago Low-Income Housing Trust Fund's (the "Trust 

Fund") managen ien t of housing quali ty inspections (HQS) for units part ic ipat ing in 

the Rental Subsidy Program (RSP) in 2017 

OIG concluded that the Trust Fund d id not ensure that all properties part ic ipat ing in 
the RSP met its standards for safe, sound, and secure housing in 2017. Specifically, 
45.8% of RSP properties did not meet min i imum HQS standards, and 51.4% did not 
meet Ghicago Bui lding Code re.quirements. The Trust Fund overpaid $30,703 to at 
least six properties in 2017 and $5J20 to at least one in 2018. In addi t ion, the Trust 
Fund d id not mainta in comple te documenta t ion of known lead hazards, City Bui ld ing 
Code violations, and local court act ion against subsidized properties. Finally, OIG 
found that the Trust Fund could not accurately gauge the amoun t of fund ing it had 
al lotted to RSP properties, and publ ished inaccurate and incomplete quarter ly 
reports f rom 2014 th rough 2018. It under-reported its total fund ing c o m m i t m e n t s by 
$295,580 in 2017 alone. 

OIG recommended that the Trust Fund develop a contract ing, inspection, and 
payment process sufficient to ensure that it only subsidizes wel l -mainta ined housing 
for low- income Chicagoans; review prior payments to identify any mistakes; and 
immediate ly resolve errors in its property records to ensure accurate report ing. The 
Trust Fund agreed wi th the audi t f indings and c o m m i t t e d to merg ing its inspection, 
documen t submission, and payment systems; updat ing its property inventory to 
reflect accurate records; and "completely revamping" its report ing 

4. Audi t of the Depar tment of Innovation and Technology's Informat ion 

Technology Investment Management (#17-0638)'"' 

OIG evaluated the Depar tment of Innovation and Technology's (DolT) managemen t 
of the City's investment in informat ion technology. DolT is responsible for ensuring 
that the City's technology infrastructure meets the needs of City depar tments and 
residents Effective managemen t of an IT portfol io requires consistent and repeatable 
organizational processes. 

We de termined that DolT d id not consistently adhere to best practices for project 

selection, wh ich increased the risk of projects delivering fewer benefits, cost ing more, 

and/or tak ing longer than expected to coimplete. In addit ion, DolT's data collection 
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practices hamper effective moni tor ing and evaluation of project and portfol io 

performance, thereby l imi t ing the Department 's ability to identify opportuni t ies for 

improvement . 

OIG recommended that the Depar tn ient fol low internal policies and industry best 

practices w i th respect to project selection, moni tor ing , and evaluation. These 

recommendat ions include comple t ing internal documen ts to gu ide these activities, 

requir ing all project managers to fol low these policies consistently, and empower ing 

governing commi t tees to meet mandates for project oversight. Project oversight 

should include evaluation of outcomes and long- term performance in order to in form 

the Department 's future decision mak ing at the proposal stage. 

DolT agreed wi th these recommendat ions and stated tha t it has under taken several 

policy and process changes in order to address these f indings. 
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VI. ADVISORIES AND DEPARTMENT NOTIFICATION 
LETTERS 

AdvLsories and depar tment notif ication letters describe managemen t problems 

observed by OIG in the course of other activities including audits and investigations. 

These are problems that OIG believes it should apprise the City of in an official 

manner. OIC comple ted two advisories and t w o notif ications this quarter. 

1. Depa i tmen t of Streets and Sanitation Bureau of Forestry Tree T r imming 

Advisory (#19-0719)^'' 

On August 29, 2019, OIG advised the Depar tment of Streets and Sanitation (DSS) that 
an OIG investigation involving the Bureau of Forestry de te rmined tha t DSS uses 
resources inefficiently and perpetuates inequit ies between wards by uti l izing urban 
forestry methods that are not al igned wi th best practices. The DSS Bureau of Forestry 
is responsible for t r i m m i n g trees and responding to tree emergencies th roughou t the 
City. 

DSS currently t r ims City trees using a reactive, 311 request-based approach rather 
than using a systematically proactive, arboricultural ly based approach. Since DSS 
crews must travel t h roughou t the City to handle individual 311 requests, they spend 
more t ime travel ing and fewer City trees are t r i m m e d . 

In 2009, in o rde r t o better understand this prob lem and br ing at tent ion to the issue, 
the Fjureau of Forestry hired Monitor Group, an independent managetnen t 
consul t ing f i rm, to review DSS' 311 request-based t r i m m i n g program and explore the 
benefits of returning to a grid-based t r i m m i n g program Based on its review, Monitor 
Group found that the 311 request-based approach was, indeed, inefficient and 
ineffective, as the Bureau of Forestry spent 75% of its t ime addressing 311 requests, 
and 40% of parkway trees (approx. 205,000) had not been t r i m m e d in 10 or more 
years They also found that a grid-based approach wou ld make the Bureau of Forestry 
rJiuch rnore eff ic ient—reducing the average cost per tree t r im by 60% and increasing 
daily tree t r ims per crew by 147%, which wou ld result in 87% more addresses receiving 
services over the course of a year 

The concerns raised by the Monitor Group were fur ther supported by OIG analysis, 
wh ich revealed that certain wards receive significantly more tree t r i m m i n g services 
f rom DSS than others For exatmple, between January 1, 2011, and December 18, 2018, 
DSS comple ted 10,4-31 tree t r im service requests in the 34th Ward, wh ich is more than 
the 45th (1808), 48 th (3020), and 49th (2522) v,/ards comb ined 
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OIG advised DSS to transit ion to a grid-based approach to tree t r imr r i ing to reduce 

these inequities, because all the City's trees wou ld be t r i m m e d on an ongo ing, cyclical 

basis, wh ich wou ld optimi./e its use of City resources, more effectively mainta in and 

preserve the urban forest as a cntical City asset, and better and more equi tably serve 

City residents. 

DSS did not disagree w i th OIG's recommendat ion , but stated that a transit ion to a 
grid-based approach on a 7 to 10-year cycle is not current ly feasible, because it wou ld 
require 15 to 20 addit ional crews. Accordingly, DSS asserted that its current approach 
of priorit izing emergency and safety-based t r ims and using 311 requests has "provided 
a structure to address areas of need w i th in available resources." DSS noted that it 
intends in 2020 to develop a comprehensive tree inventory o f t h e ent ire City canopy, 
to gather in format ion regarding the number and location of trees, the size and 
species, and any electric wire interference to better in form the daily schedul ing 
process. 

2 Chicago Public Library Global Posit ioning System Data Tracking 

Notif ication (#19-0009) 

OIG notif ied the Chicago Public Library (CPL) about a concern regarding CPL not 
install ing Global Posit ioning System (GPS) data t racking in its vehicles, result ing in an 
accountabi l i ty gap relative to most other City depar tments , including, but not l imi ted 
to, al lowing for opportuni t ies for unauthor ized use of Gity vehicles. The City outf i ts 
most of its vehicles w i th GPS data t racking, wh ich is done for a variety of mon i to r ing 
purposes, including the detect ion of suspicious behavior and patterns GPS data is 
useful evidence of various forms of City employee misconduct and can indicate 
potential red flags for investigation.'such as deviations f rom assigned routes. GPS 
location data can provide historical and real-t ime informat ion regarding the location 
of City assets and increase employee accountabil i ty. Moreover, the mere physical 
presence of a GPS receiver in a City vehicle could potential ly act as a deterrent in 
prevent ing some employees f rom engaging in misconduct at the outset. 

An OIG investigation de termined that as of December 2018, CPL util ized at least 
seven trucks driven by CPL motor t ruck drivers (MTDs) to perforni daily CPL branch 
deliveries. OIG learned that GPL trucks are not GPS-equipped, and t ruck drivers do 
not have GPS-equippecl, City-issued cellular phones. OIG was therefore unable to 
obtain GPS location data for a particular CPL vehicle that wou ld have provided 
valuable evidence to prove or disprove an allegation of apparent misuse of a CPL 
vehicle The only documenta t ion of CPL deliveries to the various CPL branches is what 
MTDs self-report on daily log sheets. GPS tracking of CPL vehicle locations wou ld 
provide a way to verify the accuracy of the daily logs. 
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OIG recommended that CPL work w i th the Depar tment of Fleet and Facility 
Management to install GPS data tracking in its City vehicles consistent w i th current 
Citywide practice to ensure proper use of City resources and to provide better 
managerial oversight. The adopt ion of this measure will assist CPL in holding its 
employees accountable for their product ivi ty and whereabouts. 

In response, CPL informed OIG'that it is work ing to purchase and install GPS data 
t racking units in its City trucks driven by MTDs. 

3. Unregistered Ward Office Equ ipment Notif ication (-#17-0532) 

On October 31, 2019, OIG issued a notif ication to the Depar tment of Fleet and Facility 
Management (2FM), report ing that a recent OIG investigation had revealed an 
alderman's office was not in compl iance w i th the 2FM Vehicle and Equ ipment Policy 
because it failed to register w i th 2FM a graff i t i blaster and uti l i ty trailer the a lderman 
purchased wi th City funds and failed to have that equ ipmen t serviced by 2FM. That 
same warcl office also maintains a City-owned ATV used for snow plowing. 

The alderman, in contravent ion o f t h e policy applying to all City vehicles, 
subsequently al lowed state employees to operate the City-owned graff i t i blaster in 
and around the alderman's ward. 2FM did not have any record o f t h e equ ipmen t in its 
database. See 2FM Vehicle and Equipment Use Policy § VI & Vll (stating that "[a]ll City 
Vehicle and City Equipn ient purchases will be coordinated by 2FM's Equ ipment 
Managenient Division w i th prior approval by [the Office of Budget Management ] " 
and that "[a]ll City Vehicles and City Equ ipment will be plated and t i t led to the City of 
Chicago by 2Ffvl, wh ich shall retain all titles") Finally, the a lderman in formed OIG that 
the graffit i blaster and util ity trailer were serviced by a private individual, not 2FM 

OIG recommended that, in order to appropriately mainta in and preserve City assets 
and to protect the City f rom potential liability, 2FM consider reaching out to the 50 
ward offices to identify any such City-owned equ ipment , particularly those assets 
requir ing t i t le and registration w i th the Illinois Secretary of State, and remind 
a ldermen that such equ ipmen t should be fueled, serviced, and mainta ined in 
accordance w i th the 2FM Vehicle and Equ ipment Policy, wh ich governs all "City-
owned leased and rented vehicles including automobi les, trucks, uti l i ty vehicles and 
vans (City Vehicles), anci all other City-owned, leased, rented, off-road and 

. miscellaneous equ ipment (City Equipment)." Absent identi f icat ion of all Ci ty-owned 
vehicles and equ ipment in the custody and control of the 50 ward offices, the City 
could be exposed to liability if, as in t f ie present case, non-City employees are al lowed 
to o|::)erate City eciuipment or if City equ ipment is not appropriately serviced. OIG 
furtf ier recommended that 2FM remind a ldermen that such equ ipmen t should be 
fueled, serviced, and mainta ined in accordance wi th the 2FM Vehicle and Equipment 
Policy. 
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In response, 2FM wrote that City-owned equ ipment in the possession o f a n a lderman 

falls outside 2FM'sjur isdict ion for oversight and maintenance 2FM cited the 

munic ipal code provision which sets out 2FM's powers and dut ies and defines the 

"fleet" to be vehicles and equ ipment "owned or leased by the city for use of any city 

depar tment or agency." Not ing that the equ ipment purchased w i th the aldermanic 

expense al lowance is property of the City, 2FM concluded that such equ ipmen t is 

nevertheless not w i th in its jur isdict ion because it is for use by an a lderman, not a City 

depar tment or agency. 2FM did not acknowledge the discrepancy between its policy, 

wh ich reads to apply to all city vehicles and equ ipment , and its narrower jur isdict ion 

as provided in the MCC. 

2FM noted that MCC § 2-8-110 sets forth the protocol for the disposal of such 
equ ipmen t when an a lderman leaves office, wh ich provides, in relevant part: 

In the event of a vacancy or change in the office of an alderman, any 

personal property purchased w i th city funds in the possession o f t h e 

vacat ing a lderman shall transfer to the alderman's successor. If the 

successor a lderman determines that use of any such personal property 

is no longer necessary then such personal property shall be transferred 

to the commi t t ee on commit tees, rules and ethics, and if not wan ted by 

any other a lderman, then to the depar tment of fleet and facility 

n ianagement for t rea tment as surplus or salvage property. ' 

2FM wrote that it wil l cont inue to work w i th a ldermen who are leaving office to 
ensure that such property is managed in the most efficient and effective nianner and 
in accordance w i th all applicable laws and policies. 

4. Chicago Police Depar tment Preferential Parking Advisory (#15-0235)'''"' 

On August 9, 2019, OIG advised CPD of concerns regarding its members misusing 

CPD parking placards to secure illegal parking spots for themselves and their family 

and friends near City Hall as well as at CPD parking lots to a t tend nearby sport ing 

events. The preferential and illegal parking cont inued well after CPD issued directive 

#236336 on February 7, 2018, prohib i t ing the provision of "courtesy" parking by CRD 

members 

An OIG investigation found that CPD officers misused their assigned CPD First 
District parking placards that are strictly for the First District station parking lot, and 
gave the placards to friends and family to avoid being t icketed, towed, or moved f rom 
14-0 West Coui t Place, an alleyway located near City Hall. Furthermore, CPD officers 
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and non-CPD meimbers used the placards to repeatedly park illegally on 140 West 
Court Place in violation of Chicago Municipal Code 9-64-100, wh ich prohibi ts the 
parking of any vehicle in a fire lane, under the lowest port ion of fire escapes, and on 
the sarne side of any exit of a theater bui lding. Illegally parking on 140 West Court 
Place caused potential safety hazards. The investigation also found that at the First 
and Nineteenth Districts, CPD n iembers and their fr iends and family are al lowed to 
park personal vehicles at the district stations to at tend nearby sport ing events at 
Soldier Field and Wrigley Field. 

Based on its f indings, OIG recommended that CPD issue a depar tmenta l policy 

requir ing that CPD-issued parking placards for any CPD location be strictly used at 

the location designated on the placard and used only by authorized CPD members 

for official CPD business. OIG further recommended that CPD ensure that directive 

#235335 is strictly adhered to, and that CPD enforce the no parking designat ion on 

Court Place and on adjacent streets and alleys around City Hall in order to protect and 

ensure the safety o f t h e theater and the Gity in case of emergency. 

In response, CPD ignored OIG's recommendat ion to ensure that directive #235336 is 
strictly adhered to and has not issued a depar tmenta l policy out l in ing the 
requirements for CPD-issued parking placards issued for any CPD location. In regards 
to OIG's recommendat ion that CPD enforce the no parking designat ion on Court 
Place and around City Hall, CPD stated that members assigned to City Hall have 
discont inued parking at Court Place and LaSalle Street, have retrieved the First 
District parking placards, and no longer honor their use in and around Gity Hall. Cf^D 
has also prohibi ted CPD personnel and non-CPD men ibers f rom parking personal 
vehicles in these areas. 

The First District commande r has commun ica ted to CPD personnel that the First 
District parking lot is reserved for on-duty police officers and members o f t h e 
depar tment work ing or conduct ing business in the bui ld ing and that the parking lot 
is not for personal use. However, the First District commander acknowledged that 
unauthor ized individuals may cont inue to use the parking lot, conc lud ing that the 
assignment of sworn personnel to patrol the parking lot wou ld not be a beneficial use 
of resources. 

CPD fu i ther stated that the Nineteenth District commander has set up a system to 
allow off-duty officers to park m extra spots in the Nineteenth District parking lot 
dur ing events at Wrigley Field The Nineteenth District commander assigns a bike 
unit to moni tor the area around t f ie parking lot dur ing games, and "best efforts" are 
made to ensure only CPD members park in the parking lot The Nineteenth District 
commander 's goal is to provide off-duty memt je rs a t tend ing Wrigley Field the ability 
to safely store their f irearms in a moni tored parking lot and these members could be 

RAGE 3: 
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contacted in the event o f a n emergency and could quickly retrieve their f irearms. 

However, CPD did not address the concern that the friends, family, and non-CPD 

imembersalso received preferential parking a t t h e Nineteenth District. 
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Vll. OTHER REPORTS AND ACTIVITIES 
As an expert in government oversight and as part of its ruission to p romote economy, 

effectiveness, efficiency, and integrity, OIG may periodically part icipate in addit ional 

activities and inquiries in the service of improving accountabi l i ty in City governnient . 

Dur ing this quarter, there was one addit ional report. 

1. Update on OIG's 2016 Notif ication Regarding Imp lementa t ion of the 

City's Informat ion Security and Technology Policies (#15-0547) 

In August 2016, OIG issued a notif ication to the Mayor's Office regarding the status of 
DolT's mult i-year plan to fully imp lement the City's Informat ion Security and 
Technology Policies (ISTP). OIG encouraged the Mayor's Office to empower and 
resource DolT to expedite its imp lementa t ion plan, and to ensure all depar tments 
understand and prioritize their roles in achieving and mainta in ing full compl iance 
w i th the ISTP. In response, the Mayor's Office and DolT c o m m i t t e d to increasing the 
number of DolT staff dedicated to informat ion security; convening a work ing g roup 
including DolT, the Mayor's Office, and representatives of other depar tments to 
coordinate imp lementa t ion th rough regular meetings; sett ing formal long- term 
milestones for full and ongo ing imp lementa t ion o f t h e ISTP; and keeping OIG 
apprised of its progress towards full imp lementa t ion . 

For the past three years, DolT provided OIG w i th quarterly updates on its progress, 
w i th the final update provided in December 2019. OIG concludes that DolT has strived 
di l igently to make the City's IT systems more secure. A m o n g other th ings, the 
Depar tn ient convened an Informat ion Security Governance Council that meets 
quai ter ly to discuss Citywide cyt^er security efforts. However, personnel turnover has 
hampered DolT's progress. This problem is particularly acute now, due to. the City's 
hir ing freeze and the Department 's loss of an IT security architect to 2020 budget 
cuts After three years, DolT has yet to finish revising the ISTP and d is t r ibut ing it to all 
depar tments -a core concern we raised in our 2016 notif ication. OIG urges the 
Mayor's Office and leadership for the new Depar tment of Assets, Informat ion, and 
Services to provide adequate resources for the Bureau of Informat ion Technology to 
put in place the governance, systems, and personnel needed to protect the City's IT 
assets."' 

'• E llC'Ctive Jatii.iaiy 1. 2020. t t ie ion-nei : jepa i t rnent of Innovat ion and Technology and i..;)epartniet-ir of 

Fleet and Facility Iv ianagement were comb ined imo the new Depa r tmen t of A^ssots, Inloi rnai ion, and 

I^AGE 
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VIII. HIRING OVERSIGHT 
Under Chapter XII of the City of Chicago General Hiring Plan, Chapter XI of CPD Hiring 

Plan, and Chapter IX of the CFD Hiring Plan, OIG is required to review and audi t 

various componen ts of the hir ing process and report on t h e m quarterly.'' ' 'The City's 

Hiring Plans require both reviews and compl iance audits. The Hiring Plans define 

reviews as a "check of all relevant documenta t ion and data concerning a matter," and 

audits as a "check o fa random sample or risk-based sample o f t h e documenta t ion 

and data concerning a hir ing element." 

A. HIRING PROCESS REVIEWS 

1. Contacts by Hir ing Depar tments 

OIG tracks all reported or discovered instances where hir ing depar tments contacted 

DHR or the Chicago Police Depar tment Human Resources (CPD-HR) to lobby for or 

advocate on behalf of actual or potent ial Appl icants or Bidders for Covered Positions 

or to request that specific individuals be added to any referral or eligibil i ty list. 

OIG did not receive any reports of direct contacts in the four th quarter. 

2. Political Contacts 

OIG tracks all reported or discovered instances where elected or appointed officials of 

any political party or any agent act ing on behalf of an elected or appoin ted official, 

political party, or political organizat ion contact the City a t t emp t ing to affect any hir ing 

for any Covered Position or Other Employment Actfons. 

Additionally, City employees often report contacts by elected or appointed officials 

that may be categorized as inquiries on behalf of their const i tuents but not an 

a t temp t to affect any hir ing decisions for any Covered Position or Other Employment 

Actions. 

Dur ing this quarter, OIG received notice of two political contacts: 

'•'On Junc 24, 20TI, the City ofChicago filed thc 20TI City of Chicago Hiring Plan (General Hiring Plan) Tfie 

General l-liring f-'lan, winch was agreed to by tlie patties arid ap|:iroved fay ttie Coi.iit on June 29, 2011, 

replaced rhe 2007 City of Ciucago Hiring 1-^lan, which was previously in effect This Hiring F-'^lan was refiled, 

though not amended, on fvi,.-iy 15. 2014 Tfse City of Chicagcj also lited an ametided Cfiicago Police 

IDepartment t-liring Plan fot Sworn fitles (CPD Fliring Plan) and an amended Chicago Fire Departriient 

t-liring Plan foi t iniformed Positions {CFD l-linng f^lanj on May 15. 201-1-. which were approved by ttie -Court 

on June 15, 2014 Collcciively. tfie Geneial fHirincj f^lan, thc Cf^D 1 iiiing i-'lan. and tti-e CFD 1-lirinc.j Plan yvitl 

be referreci to as ttie "C.Jtv's Fhi mg r^lans : 
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• A representative f rom the Mayor's Office contacted [3HR to inquire about the 

status of a candidate for the covered position of carpenter in CDA 

• An alderrnan contacted DHR to inquire about the status of a candidate for the 
covered position of pool imotor truck driver in CDA and DSS. 

3. Exemptions 

OIG tracks all reported or discovered Shakman Exempt appo in tments and 
modif icat ions to the Exenipt List on an ongo ing basis. 

OIG received notif ication of 41 exempt appo in tments this quaiter. 

4. Senior Manager Hires 

OIG reviews hires pursuant to Chapter VI covering the Senior Manager Hir ing Process. 

O f t h e 45 hire packets OIG reviewed this quarter, 10 pertained to senior manager 

positions, 2 of wh ich conta ined an error. The errors involved missing or incomplete 

documenta t ion , wh ich DHR corrected after being in formed of the errors by OIG. Due 

to the nature o f t h e errors and the corrective action taken, OIC had no further 

recommendat ions. 

5. Wr i t ten Rationale 

When no consensus selection is reached dur ing a consensus meet ing, a wr i t ten 

rationale must be provided to OIG for review.'" 

Dur ing the last quarter, OIG did not receive any wr i t ten rationales for review. 

6. Emergency Appo in tments 

OIG reviews circumstances and wr i t ten justi f ications for emergency hires made 

pursuant to the Personnel Rules and MCC § 2-74-050(8). 

The City reported no emergency appo in tments in the last quarter. 

7 Review of Contract ing Activity 

OIG IS required to revirew City depar tments ' compl iance w i th the City's Contractor 

Policy (Exhibit C to the City's Hiring Plan). Per the Contractor Policy, OIG may choose 

to review any solicitation documents , draft agreements or final contract or agreenient 

te rms to assess whether they are in compl iance w i th the Contractor Policy. This 

A '•'consenstis mee t i ng " is a discussioti t l iat is led t^y the l9FtR Reeti.iiter at the conclusion o f j . i ie 

interview process ij:..ring tt ie consensus fneet ing, the ir i terviewers and tf ie Hir ing Manager reviovv ttioir 

respective interview result:, and any ol her relevant in fo rmat ion to arrive at a t i i r ing recon imenc la t ion 
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review includes analyzing the contract for common- law employee risks and ensur ing 

the inclusion of Shakman boilerplate language 

Under the Contractor Policy, depar tments are not required to notify OIG of all 

contract or solicitation agreements or task orders. However, all contract and 

solicitation agreenients that OIG receives notice of will be reviewed. In addi t ion, OIG 

will request and review a risk-based sample of contract documents f rom 

depar tments . 

In addi t ion to contracts, pursuant to Chapter X o f t h e Hiring Plan, OIG must receive 
notif ication o f t h e procedures for using volunteer workers at least 30 days prior to 
imp lementa t ion . OIG also receives addit ional notif ications of new interns and/or 
volunteer workers for existing programs.'-^ 

The table below details contracts and internship opportuni t ies OIG reviewed this 

quarter. 

TABLE # 7 - CONTRACT A N D INTERNSHIP OR VOLUNTEER OPPORTUNITY 

NOTIFICATIONS 

'Contract ing 
.•E)epartment . *-* 

contractor; Agency, Prograrrii'or 
Other brganizati.on'',,;-,.' -^y ^i^. 

Durat ion of . i, 
"Contract/ • 
Agr.eement 

2FM Vehicle and Equ ipment 
Management Services 

5 years 

Business Affairs and 

Consumer Protection 

Hearing Officer Services Ongo ing 

Transportat ion Engineering Management Services 5 years 

Cultural Affairs and 

Special Events 

Sponsorship Consult ing Services 2 years 

Finance Aud i t ing Services 3 years 

Mayor's Office The University of Chicago Urban 

Policy and Research Program 

7 mon ths 

B. HIRING PROCESS AUDITS 

1. Modif ications to Class Specifications,^" M i n i m u m Qualifications, and 

Screening and Hiring Criteria 

' 'Hl l iapter X 13 6 of t t ie C-enerat Hit ing Pla^i 

-'•'"Class Specifications" ate descr ipt ions of t f ic dut ies aticJ responsibil i t ies of a class of posit ions t l iat 

d is t inguish one class f rom .•nottior JJiey aie. in ef:ect, the general descr ipt ions utihzed to d e t e i m m e 
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OIG reviews modif icat ions to Glass Specifications, m i n i m u m qualif ications, and 
screening and hir ing criteria This quarter, OIG received notif ications that DHR 
changed the m i n i m u m qualif ications for four tit les wi th in the fo l lowing depar tments : 
Aviation, Fire, Transportat ion, and Finance. 

OIG reviewed each o f t h e proposed changes to m i n i m u m qualif ications and had no 

objections. 

2. Referral Lists 

OIG audits lists of appl icants/bidders w h o meet the predetermined m i n i m u m 

qualif ications generated by DHR for City positions. OIG examines a sample of referral 

lists and notifies DHR when potential issues are identif ied. 

This quarter, OIG audi ted three referral lists and did not f ind any errors. 

3. Testing 

The Hiring Plan requires that OIG conduct an audit of DHR test administrat ions and 
scoring each quaiter. This quarter, OIG audi ted test ing administ rat ion materials for 32 
test administrat ions covering 14 City depar tments, wh ich were comple ted dur ing the 
th i rd quarter of 2019. 

OIG will report on fts audit f indings and DHR's response in a subsequent quarterly 
report 

4. Selected Hiring Sequences 

Each quarter, the Hiring Plan requires OIG to audit at least 10% of in-process hir ing 
sequences and at least 5% of comple ted hir ing sequences conducted by the fol lowing 
depar tments or their successors: 2FM, CDA, CDOT, DOB, DSS, DWM, and six other City 
depar tments selected at the discretion of OIG. 

Aud i t ing the hir ing sequence requires an examinat ion o f t h e hire packets, wh ich 
include all documents and notes mainta ined by City employees involved in the 
selection and hir ing process fo ra particular position. As required b y t h e Hiring Plan, 
OIG examines some hire packets dur ing the hir ing process and examines other 
packets after the hires are comple ted 

tiropei" level to w i i i c l i a positujri si iould t3e ass.gne/d. and :hey include the general j o b dairies and 

m i n i m u m qual i f icat ions of tf ie posit ion Class Si jeci l lcat ions shalt inc lude suff ic ient detai l so as to 

acci.irately refler.:t tf ie j ob dut ies 
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Last quarter, OIG audi ted hire packets for 30 hir ing sequences comple ted dur ing the 

second quai ter of 2019 The audit identi f ied two errors involving missing consensus 

meet ing notes and an incomplete hire certif ication. OIG renewed its 

recommendat ion that DHR provide recruiters w i th wr i t ten guidance and t ra in ing to 

ensure consistent practices a m o n g all DHR recruiters. In response, DHR stated it 

wou ld provide a reminder to recruiters about taking comple te notes dur ing 

consensus meet ings. DHR also indicated it is still work ing to create a recruiter t ra in ing 

manual . 

This quarter, OIG comple ted an audit of hire packets for 35 hir ing sequences 

comple ted across 18 depar tments dur ing the th i rd quarter of 2019. OIG provided its 

f indings to DHR and will report on the response in a later quarter. 

5. Hiring Certif ications 

OIG audits the City's compl iance w i th Chapter XII.C.5 o f t h e General Hiring Plan. A 

Hir ing Certif ication is a fo rm comple ted b y t h e selected candidate(s) and all City 

employees involved in the hir ing process to attest that no political reasons or factors 

or other improper considerations were taken into account dur ing the applicable 

process. 

OIG reviewed 46 hire packets this quarter and two conta ined a hire cert i f ication error. 

5. Selected Depar tment of Law Hiring Sequences 

Pursuant to Section B.7 o f t h e Depar tn ient of Law (DOL) Hiring Process, OIG has the 
author i ty to audit DOL hir ing files. Hir ing files include assessment forms, notes, 
documents , wr i t ten justif ications, and hire cert i f ication forms. In 2018, DOL became 
the repository for all documenta t ion related to the hir ing sequences for the tit les 
covered by the DOL Hiring Process. OIG will conduct an audit of DOL hire packets on 
a bi-annual basis. 

Last quarter, OIG comple ted its first audit of 22 hir ing files for DOL sequences 
comple ted dur ing the first'half of 2019 OIG did not identify any errors. However, OIG 
had t w o recommendat ions regarding screening documenta t ion . Specifically, OIG 
recommended that DOL modify its current screening fo rm to require explanation for 
why candidates v-jere or were not selected for an interview and that DOL use the 
revised screening forms for all positions covered by the DOL Hiring Process. 

In response, DOL decl ined to fully documen t their selection process by extending the 

use of screening forms for candidates who are not selected for an interview However, 

DOL stated the Depar tn ient is "currently considering" uti l izing the screening form for 

all positions covered by the DOL Hiring Plan 
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b iG notes that DOL's current refusal to fully documen t their selection process isa 
reversal f rom the prior administrat ion's representations to OIG. In 2018 the DOL Hiring 
Plan V'jas revised to allow DOL to have comple te control of their hir ing and selection 
process, w i thou t DHR recruiters conduct ing any screening of m i n i m u m 
qualif ications. OIG, DFIR, and DOL discussed that since DFIR is no longer screening for 
m i n i m u m qualif ications, the screening form that DOL utilizes wou ld need to be 
updated to ensure that all considered candidates were minimal ly quali f ied and 
screened on consistent criteria. OIG and DOL engaged in numerous addit ional 
conversations and fo l low-up meet ings th roughou t 2018 and into 2019 to negot iate 
the contents o f t h e revised screening criteria. DOL, under a new administ rat ion, and 
contrary to prior discussions has now changed its position to update its screening 
forms to account for the addit ional screening responsibilities. 

7. Selected Chicago Police Depa i tmen t Assignment Sequences 

Pursuant to Chapter XII o f t h e CPD Hiring Plan for Sworn Titles, OIG has the author i ty 

to audit Other Employment Actions, including district or unit assignments, as it 

deems necessary to ensure compl iance w i th this Hiring Plan. Generally, OIG audits 

assignments that are not covered by a collective bargaining unit and wh ich are 

located wi th in a district or unit. 

Assignment packets include all documents and notes mainta ined by employees 
involved in the selection processes out l ined in Appendix D and E of the CPD Hiring 
Plan. On a quarterly basis, OIG selects a risk-based sample of assignment packets for 
comple ted process review after selections have been made and the candidates have 
begun their assignments 

Dur ing the th i rd quarter of 2019 OIG comple ted an audit of 4 non-bid duty 
assignment sequences and 5 non-bid unit assignments comple ted dur ing the 
second quarter of 2019 OIG identif ied 2 documenta t ion errors concern ing non-bid 
assignments. In both instances, materials related to the wr i t ten exercises used to 
evaluate candidates were missing f rom the assignment packet. Due to the missing 
documenta t ion , OIG was unable to conduct a thorough and comple te review of the 
selected a.ssignment sequences. OIG recommended that CPD-FIR ensure that all 
evaluation materials, including instructional and relevant supplementa l exercises, are 
properly mainta ined in the assignment packets prior to submission for review. CPD-
HR agreed w i th the f indings and agreed to ensure all materials used to evaluate 
candidates wou ld be mainta ined and included for review. 

OIG comple ted an audit of 5 non-bid duty assignment sequences and 3 non-bid unit 

assignments comple ted dur ing the th i rd quarter of 2019 OIG will repoit on its audit 

f indings and CF'D's response in a subsequent quarterly repoit. 
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8. Selected Ghicago Fire Depar tment Assignment Sequences 

Pursuant to Chapter X of the CFD Fliring Plan for Uni formed Positions, OIG has the 

author i ty to audit Other Employment Actions, including assignments, "as it deems 

necessary to ensure cornpl iance w i th [the] CFD Hiring Plan." Ass ignment packets 

include all documents util ized in a specialized unit assignment sequence, including, 

but not l imi ted to: all forms, certif ications, licenses, and notes mainta ined by 

individuals involved in the selection process. OIG selects a risk-based sample of 

ass ignment packets for comple ted process review after CFD issues unit transfer 

orders and candidates have begun their new assignments. 

Last quarter, OIG selected a sample of assignment packets for comp le ted process 

review covering 8 assignment sequences. The audit identif ied 3 errors in 2 

assignment sequences that involved documenta t ion errors. OIG recommended that 

CFD-HR thoroughly review all documenta t ion and ensure that all required 

documenta t ion is included in each assignment packet, inc luding hire cert i f ication 

forms, prior to submi t t i ng to the DHR recruiter In response, CFD-HR agreed and will 

ensure all master hire cert i f ication and candidate assessment forms are fully 

comp le ted mov ing forward. 

This quarter, CFD did not process any specialized uni t assignments for OIG to audit. 

9. Moni tor ing Hiring Sequences 

In addi t ion to audi t ing hire packets, OIG moni tors hir ing sequences as they progress 

by a t tend ing and observing intake meetings, interviews, tests, and consensus 

meet ings. The primary goal of mon i to r ing hir ing sequences is to identify any gaps in 

internal controls. However, real-t ime moni to r ing also allows OIG to detect and seek to 

address compl iance anomalies as they occur 

OIG identifies the hiring sequences to be moni tored based on risk factors such as past 
errors, complaints, and historical issues wi tbpar t tcu lar positions. This quarter, OIG 
moni to red 5 intake meetings, 4 sets of interviews, and 5 consensus meet ings. The 
table below shows the breakdown of moni tor ing activity by department.'-^' 

I fa doi ia i I n iont is not inc luded in tins table Ci|Cj d id i iot mon i to r any e lements of t t iat depai tment 's 

f i inng sequericeisi 
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TABLE # 8 - O I G MONITORING ACTIVITIES IN THE FOURTH QUARTER 

Intake Interview Consensusv. 

Meetin.gs -, Tests " • _ Set's-',- ' -.t'swh Meet ings 

Depar tment •'K/lonitored ' ' '• - Moni tored Moni tored ' '' Mon i to red ' 

CDA 0 0 1 1 

CDOT 0 0 1 2 

CFD 0 2 0 0 

CPD 1 1 0 0 

DWM 0 0 1 1 

Finance 4 0 1 1 

Mu l t i p le - 1 0 0 0 

10. Act ing Up''' 

OIG audits the City's compl iance w i th Chapter XI o f t h e General Hiring Plan and the 
Act ing Up Policy. OIG received notice of eight DHR-approved waiver request to the 
City's 90-Day Act ing Up l imit this quarter.'^'' 

TABLE # 9 - A C T I N G UP WAIVERS IN THE FOURTH QUARTER 

Depar tment .,'.:•. . ..• 
£AGting;.PGSition.:*-
m r -XX:- ' K : * : 

il^.'urrib'er oi? 

• ••'•"""• • 
Dgtetbt^^: •: ' :::i 
Response. 

lExpirat ion of 

; w a i 5 ^ ^ J 
2FM General Foreman 

of Electrical 
Mechanics 

1 10^0/19 12/31^9 

CDOT Foreman of 

Construct ion 

Laborers 

3 10/^0/19 12/31/19 

DWM Laborer Sub 

Foreman 
2 10/22/19 10/31/19 

CDOT Foreman of 

Cement Laborers 
6 12/10/19 12/31/19 

Representatives f rom D\-\\-i. OIG, DCJL. CDA, CI90T. !1WM and F3SS part ic ipated in a c o m t i i n c d intake 

mee t i ng for the posit ion ol hoist ing engineer The goal o f t h e tneet ing was to create a univctsal post ing 

for the posit ion, w inch woi.ild facil itate the deve lopment o f a c i tywide pool of candidates for depar t rnents 

in need of f ioist ing engineeis 

••'••• "Act ing up " n ieans an e inp loyee is direcrecj or is helo accountable to per forn i , and does 1:10? forrn, 

substantial ly all t t ie responsitaitit les of a higher .oosition 

''•''• Purst iant to t t ie Ac t ing Lip Policy no employee may serve in an .Acting Up ass ignment in excess of 90 

days in any caiendar year i.inies; ::-io deiiiai t rnent receives prior v/r. t ten approvat f ro ' i i i l l IR '! l ie 

d e p a r t m e n t must SLiiomii a waiver rogu-est 111 wr i t i ng s igned lay tt ie i;)epdrrnier-it 1 li:;ad at least 10 days 

j jr ior to the ernptoyee react i ing tf ie 90-day l imi ta t ion tf the de|.-)ai t m e n t e:<ceeds 90 days of Ac t ing lJ,o 

witf ioi. i t ;oceh.-''i:(.: a granter l wai\'et • equest fioi-n 10Fl!^. ; i te depar t r r ient is in violat ion of t l ie Policy 
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CDOT Foreman of 

L inemen 

4 12/10/19 12/31/19 

CDOT Foreman of Traffic 

Signal Repairmen 

2 s 12/10/19 12/31/19 

CDOT General Foreman 
of Traffic Signal 
Repairmen 

2 12/10/19 12/31/19 

CDOT General Foreimen 

of L inemen 

1 12/10/19 12/31/19 

11. Arbitrat ions and Potential Resolution of Grievances by Sett lement 

Chapter XII.C.7 of the City's Hiring Plan requires the Hiring Oversight section to audit 

grievance set t lement decisions that may impact procedures governed b y t h e Hir ing 

Plan. 

Dur ing this quarter, OIG received notice of four set t lement agreements wh ich 
resulted in emp loymen t actions f rom DHR. The set t lement agreements resulted in: 
the reclassification of a covered position; the revision of j ob posting language due to 
the consol idat ion of two job classifications; the addi t ion of an employee to an 
eligibil i ty list for a promot ional exam; and the creation o f a universal j ob post ing for a 
covered position. 

C. REPORTING OF OTHER OIG HIRING OVERSIGHT ACTIVITY 

1. Escalations 

Recruiters and analysts in DHR and CPD-HR must escalate concerns regarding 

improper hir ing by noti fying OIC. In response to these notif ications, OIG may take one 

or more o f t h e fol lowing actions: investigate the matter, conduct a review o f t h e hir ing 

sequence, refer the mat ter to the DHR commissioner or appropr iate depar tment 

head for resolution, or refer the matter to the OIG Investigations section. 

This quarter, OIG did not receive notice of any new escalations OIG has one 
escalation pending. OIG will report on its f indings for the pending escalation and the 
depar tment 's response in a future quarterly report. 

2. Processing of Cotmplaints 

OIG receives compla ints regarding tf ie hiring process, including allegations of 

unlawful political d iscr iminat ion and retaliation and other improper considerations in 

connect ion w i th City emp loymen t All compla ints received l.:)y OIG are reviewed as 

part of OIG's compla int intake process Hiring-relatecl compla ints may be resolved in 

several ways depend ing upon the nature o f t h e cotmplaint. If there is an allegation o fa 
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Hiring Plan violation or breach of a policy or procedure related to hii ing, OIG may 
open a case into the niat ter to de termine if such a violation or breach occurred. If a 
violation or breach is sustained, OIG may make corrective recommendat ions to the 
appropr iate depa i tmen t or may undertake further investigation. If, after sufficient 
inquiry, no violation or breach is found, OIG will close the case as not sustained. If, in 
the course of an inquiry, OIG identifies a non-hir ing-related process or p rogram that 
could benefit f rom a more comprehensive audit, OIG may consider a formal audit or 
p rogram review 

OIG had 1 pending compla in t f rom the prior quarter and received 4 compla ints this 

quarter related to the City's hiring practices. The table below summar izes the 

disposit ion of these complaints, as well as those pending f rom the previous quarter. 

TABLE # 1 0 - HIRING OVERSIGHT COMPLAINTS RECEIVED IN THE FOURTH 

QUARTER 

Complaint Statiiis"' „ \ : 

Pending From Previous Quarter 1 

Received This Quarter 6 

Opened Investigation 1 

Declined 2 

Referred to Depar tment 1 

Complaints Pending as of End of Quarter 3 

Hiring Oversight closed 4 cases this quai ter It referred 1 case to another depar tment , 

closed not sustained 1 case, closed sustained w i th recommendat ion 1 case, and closed 

administrat ively 1 case. 

TABLE-#11 - HIRING OVERSIGHT CASES IN THE FOURTH QUARTER 

^Gase%;f^itt^^%^-^^-:.-' •/• ' ' ^ ^ ^ ^ life'bSi^^fc^,.'''xmk.,-: .-.'-.l 
Pending From Previous Quarter 14 

Opened This Quarter 3 

Cases Referred 1 

Closed Not Sustained 1 

Closed Sustained w i th Recommendat ion 1 

Closed Administrat ively 1 

Cases Rending as of End of Quarter 13 

RACE 
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1. Chicago Police Depar tment Assignments not Meet ing M i n i m u m 

Requirements (# 18-0035) 

In the four th quai ter of 2017, OIG received an anonymous compla in t al leging that four 
CPD sergeants obta ined assignments wi th in the Bureau of Detectives and Bureau of 
Organized Crime w i thou t having the required experience for the assignments. OIG 
conduc ted a review o f t h e sergeant hir ing sequence at issue wh ich revealed that 
these sergeants were not properly assigned th rough the Appendix E process out l ined 
in the CPD Hiring Plan Appendix E states that CPD "moy choose to, bu t is not 
requi red to, use any specific selection process in fi l l ing Non-Bid Unit Assignments at 
managerial levels and Personal Staff Assignments of C o m m a n d Staff Members" 
[emphasis added]. However, the CPD Hiring Plan: Appendices D and E Training reads, 
"If a specific process is used, it must be used exclusively and entirely." If a unit has 
opted to use a process, then they must apply that process consistently to all 
candidates th roughou t the hir ing sequence. None o f t h e sergeants at issue appl ied 
for the post ing or were interviewed, nor d id they meet the one year in grade 
requirement. They were initially detai led, then assigned outside o f t h e assignment 
process, in violation o f t h e CPD Hiring Plan. OIG therefore recommended tha t CPD-
HR act as a resource to help gu ide units and depar tments when undergo ing 
organizational and managemen t shifts, to ensure the hir ing and selection process is 
seamlessly fol lowed in the future. OIG recommended that CPD-HR should prompt ly 
help assess and inform new c o m m a n d staff on issues such as staff ing and selection 
needs prior to imp lemen t ing any changes. 

In response, CPD-HR reviewed and deterimined that these assignments were 
administered due to a lack of understanding of the Fliring Plan, the t ime the original 
not ice of job oppor tun i ty was posted, and the turnover wi th in the c o m m a n d staff of 
the units in quest ion. CPD-HR agreed w i th OIG's recommendat ion to include 
supervisory specific unit assignment reviews when requested for assignment. CPD-
HR also stated that it has inst i tuted a process to cross check eligibil i ty pools w i th 
assignment requests to help prevent an error o f th i s nature in the future. 

2. Chicago Depar tment of Transportat ion Act ing Up (#18-0174) 

In the first quarter of 2018, OIG received an anonymous compla in t al leging 

preferential t rea tment w i th in CDOT's "traffic shop." Specifically, the compla inant 

stated that a general foreman of l inemen assigned a less senior traffic signal 

repairman (TSR) to the indoor traffic shop despite having the least seniority as a TSR. 

In the th i rd qua i ter of 2018, OIG received a second, related anonymous compla in t 

al leging preferential t rea tment in Act ing Up assignments for the TSR foreman 

fol lowing the ret i rement of the general fo reman of l inemen. Due to the vacancy, 

fo remen were Act ing Up into the general fo reman position, wh ich resulted in TSRs 

Act ing Up into the foreman position The compla inant alleged only three individuals 
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were being al lowed to Act Up, rather than the required,rotat ion ofa l l employees. 

According to the complainant , those three were Act ing up because of their schedules 

and because they were assigned to the traffic shop. 

The j ob specif ication for TSR does not contain dist inct ions among the dut ies for 
assignments to the field or shop The job post ing does not indicate where selected 
candidates wil l be assigned. The job specification and posting indicate that CDOT can 
assign TSRs to different locations as needed. The International Brotherhood of 
Electrical Workers Local 9 (IBEW) collective bargaining agreement (CBA) does not 
require CDOT to assign work location by seniority. CDOT is not required to use a 
process when asstgning work locations, provided that improper factors are not 
considered. The less senior person w h o was assigned to the traffic shop position has 
more than 25 years of experience in traffic signal installation and repair and has been 
an IBEW men iber for more than 20 years. Despite having less seniority w i th the City, 
this least senior individual is quahfied to work on the complex signal housing boxes in 
the traffic shop. Additionally, the logs and at tendance sheets show that the individual 
is assigned to the shop on most days but goes into the field a few days per m o n t h In 
contrast, TSRs assigned to the field do not appear to work in the shop. Because CDOT 
can assign workers as needed, there is no evidence of preferential t rea tment 
regarding the assignment locations. 

Regarding the second related complaint , the Act ing Up Policy does require the 
oppor tun i ty to be rotated and offered assignments based on seniority. Depar tments 
are required to obtain waivers f rom employees who do not wish to Act Up. OIG's 
review conf i rmed that field employees Act Up into the field fo reman position and 
shop employees Act Up into the shop foreman position. Separating the eligible 
employees by work location (field or shop) is w i th in CDOT's r ight to manage 
operat ions o f t h e traffic section. OIG's review revealed that the least senior employee 
assigned to the shop Acted Up as a TSR foreman less than the other TSRs w h o are 
assigned to the shop and have more seniority. CDOT does not have an obl igat ion to 
offer the shop Act ing Up oppor tun i ty to field employees. 

OIG found tha t CDOT did not violate City policy by assigning a less senior but quali f ied 

TSR to the traffic shop. However, OIG recommended that DHR and CDOT consider 

establishing an assignment and/or t ra in ing process for TSRs interested in being 

assigned to the shop. Having a more transparent assignment process may prevent 

the appearance of preferential t reatnient. 

CDOT decided to take no action in response to OIG's recommendat ion . CDOT stated 
that It v^/ould cont inue the practice of on-site training for all TSRs in the field and the 
traffic shop CDOT also stated that it will c o m m i t to posting traffic shop volunteer 
opportuni t ies in a "centrally located easily visible spot to fu i ther p romote 
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t ransparency" Lastly, CDOT stated that employees can request a change in 

assignment wh ich will be processed according to the IBEW CBA. DHR did not 

respond to OIG's recommendat ion to work w i th CDOT establish a more transparent 

assignment process. 
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IX. PUBLIC SAFETY 

The Public Safety section (PS) supports the larger OIG mission of p romot ing economy, 
efficiency, effectiveness, and integrity by conduct ing independent, objective 
evaluations and reviews of the Chicago Police Depart r j ient (CPD), the Civilian Office of 
Police Accountabi l i ty (COPA), and the Police Board. PSIG addit ionally conducts 
inspections of closed disciplinary investigations conducted by COPA and CPD's 
Bureau of Internal Affairs (BIA). 

A. INSPECTIONS UNIT 

The Public Safety section's Inspections Unit reviews individual closed disciplinary 
investigations conducted by COPA and BIA. OIG may make recommendat ions to 
in form and improve future investigations and, if it f inds that a specific investigation 
was deficient such that its outcotme was materially affected, may recommend that it 
be reopened. Closed investigations are selected for in-depth review based on several 
criteria, inc luding but not l imited to the nature and circumstances o f t h e alleged 
misconduct , and its impact on the quali ty of po l ice-communi ty relationships; the 
apparent integri ty of the investigation; and the frequency of an occurrence or 
allegation. The closed investigations are then reviewed in a process gu ided by the 
standards for peer review of closed cases developed by the Council of Inspectors 
General on Integrity and Efficiency. OIG assesses sufficiency across several categories, 
inc luding t imeliness, professional standard of care, interviews, evidence collection and 
analysis, internal oversight, and case disposition. 

This quarter, the Inspections Unit examined 117 closed disciplinary cases and opened 
15 for in-depth review. 

TABLE # 1 2 - DISCIPLINARY CASES REVIEWED 

lAggncy:^--;., .M^^.Sk: . .Cases Sci'^riecii''• *?"•:^x^-'-^iisM!^. -•CaSes^pShedJ"''-^ • •-'X^^iMy::.^^::.'''' 

BIA 35 2 

COPA 82 14 

Total 117 16 

OIG found that t w o COPA investigations contained deficiencies wh ich material ly 
affected their ou t come and recommended that they be reopened. COPA accepted 
one of OIG's recommendat ions and reopened that case In response to the second 
recommendat ion , COPA decl ined to reopen the investigation, but stated that it 
wcjulcl clarify its evidentiary record fjased on QIC's review and recommendat ion . 
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1. Recommendat ion to Reopen Based on Failure to Consider a Statement 

by the Accused Officer (#19-1719) 

COPA received a compla in t al leging that, dur ing a traffic stop, a CPD officer walked 

toward the complainant 's vehicle w i th their gun pointed at the complainant , ordered 

the compla inant out o f t h e vehicle, and placed the compla inant in handcuffs w i thou t 

probable cause. COPA brought several allegations against the accused officer, 

including an al legation of excessive force arising out o f t h e officer po int ing their 

weapon at the complainant 's face. 

As part of its review of COPA's investigation, OIG reviewed the accused officer's audio 

interview, body-worn camera (BWC) footage, and the summary report of 

investigation. Dur ing the audio interview, the accused officer conf i rmed that they 

had, in fact, pointed their weapon at the compla inant COPA's summary report d id 

not reflect this statement, nor was this s ta tement apparent ly considered in COPA's 

analysis o f t h e excessive force al legation. 

In its summary report, COPA describes its review of available BWC footage. Based on 
its review, COPA concluded that the accused officer was not point ing a gun at the 
complainant , and that the BWC footage "refute[d]" the allegation on that point. Based 
on OIG's review o f t h e BWC footage, however, the accused officer's g u n is never in 
view o f t h e camera; the video, therefore, is inconclusive w i th respect to the allegation. 

COPA conc luded that the allegation of excessive force was not sustained. QIC 

recommended COPA reopen its investigation to account in its analysis for the fact 

that- the accused officer admi t ted to point ing his weapon at the compla inant CORA 

responded that it had "revised its Summary Report to clarify the evidentiary record 

suppor t ing COPA's f inding." 

2. Recommendat ion to Reopen Based on Failure to Address a Potential 

Rule Violation (#19-1431) 

Whi le invest igat ing allegations of an improper traffic stop and search of a vehicle, 

COPA neglected to address a CPD officer's failure to provide their name and badge 

number when requested. BWC footage f rom the stop captures the compla inant 

asking the officer for their name and badge nuimber and the officer responding in an 

unprofessional manner instead of providing the informat ion. COPA did not address 

this potential rule violation captured on BWC footage in its final summary report On 

OIG's recommendat ion , COPA has reopened the investigation 

B. COMMUNITY AND CPD MEMBER SURVEYS 

The Public Safety section created voluntary and anonymous surveys seeking input 
f rom Chicago c o m m u n i t y members and CF^D members , current and former, to 
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inform, prioritize, and generate ideas for projects. The data presented below includes 

all responses f rom September 1, 2019, th rough December 31, 2019, dur ing which t ime 

414 c o m m u n i t y members and 17 CPD n iembers responded. 

1. Commun i t y Member Responses 

Commun i t y members were asked to identify up to five areas (out of 10) wh ich they 
believed should be top priorities of OIG's PS section. The most f requent ly identif ied 
areas were as follows: 

TABLE # 1 3 - W H A T AREAS S H O U L D BE TOP PRIORITIES FOR OIG'S PUBLIC 

SAFETY SECTION IN PROVIDING OVERSIGHT OF C P D ^ 
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O f t h e 248 c o m m u n i t y members that identif ied accountabi l i ty for misconduct , 204 
(87 percent) identi f ied 'appropriate discipline for misconduct ' and 175 (75 percent) 
identi f ied 'quality of misconduct investigations' as specific areas to prioritize. O f t h e 
603 that identi f ied menta l health services, 142 (81 percent) identif ied 'services for CPD 
members ' and 129 (73 percent) identif ied 'services for subjects of police encounters' as 
specific areas to prioritize.--

2. CPD Member Responses 

CPD members were asked to identify up to five areas (out of eight) in wh ich they 

believed CPD managemen t is most in need of improvement . The most f requent ly 

identif ied areas were as follows: 

This count represents all partial and comp le te res.oonses A coir iptete response indicates the 

tes|-jondent leachsd the final survey page and cl icked "done ' whi le a partial response indicates t l io 

res[.-)Oiideiit began tt ie survey but d id not finish it OIG received 318 comp le te responses and 95 [lartial 

Fc;'sponses for a total of 414 responses 
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TABLE-#14 -VVHICH O F T H E FOLLOWl NG ASPECTS OF CPD M A N A G E M E N T 

DO YOU THINK ARE fv'lOST IN NEED OF I M P R O V E M E N T ^ 
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A m o n g these areas, CPD members frequent ly identi f ied 'support for officer wellness' 
and 'fairness in disciplinary systems,' wh ich correspond to priority areas identif ied by 
c o m m u n i t y members . However, OIG is work ing to gather more responses f rom 
current CPD members to ensure the survey represents a broad spect rum of 
perspectives and looks forward to CPD's cooperat ion in gather ing those responses. 

The PS section uses the survey responses f rom officers and members o f t h e public to 

identify potential t hemes and topics to evaluate. Certain topics identif ied by survey 

respondents, such as accountabi l i ty for misconduct and fairness in the disciplinary 

process, already overlap w i th the section's obl igat ions pursuant to its enabl ing 

legislation and/or the consent decree. Other topics identi f ied by survey respondents, 

such as officer wellness and fairness in the promot ion process, are either currently 

underway or may be init iated in 2020 

The Public Safety section will cont inue to collect data via the surveys, and encourages 

both cofmmunity and CPD men ibers to part icipate by visit ing our website at 

w w w iqchicaqo org. 
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